

OREGON BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGY

Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 675 (2023),
Oregon Administrative Rules Chapter 858
&

APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct

Revised 12/25

Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 675 (2023), Oregon Administrative Rules Chapter 858,

APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct.

Revised 12/25

Table of Contents

Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 675	1
675.010 Definitions for ORS 675.010 to 675.150	1
675.020 Practice or representation as psychologist prohibited without license; use of	
name or designation	
675.030 Licensing of psychologists after examination; requirements; fee; resident of	designation;
rules	_
675.040 Examinations for licensing	2
675.045 Examinations administered by board; rules	
675.050 Licensing without national examination; fee; rules	3
675.063 Limited permit to practice as psychologist; duration	
(Temporary provisions relating to psychologist associate licenses issued before Jan 2022)	-
675.070 Authorized sanctions; grounds for imposing sanctions; civil penalty	
675.075 Confidentiality of information obtained under ORS 675.070 or 675.085	
675.085 Investigation; disciplinary procedure	
675.087 Continuing authority of board upon lapse, suspension, revocation or volun	
surrender of license	•
675.090 Application of ORS 675.010 to 675.150	
675.100 Oregon Board of Psychology	
675.110 Powers of board; rules; fees	
675.115 How fees determined	9
675.130 Officers; quorum; meetings; records; executive director	9
675.140 Oregon Board of Psychology Account; appropriation	
675.145 Duty to report prohibited conduct	
675.150 Enforcement procedures	
675.990 Penalties	10
Oregon Administrative Rules Chapter 858	13
DIVISION 10 - PROCEDURAL RULES	13
858-010-0001 Definitions	
858-010-0002 Guidelines for Supervising Technicians	15
858-010-0003 Psychology Practice in Oregon	15
858-010-0005 Board Duties and Procedure	
858-010-0007 Notice of Proposed Rule	
858-010-0010 Education Requirements – Psychologist	
858-010-0012 Practicum	20

Table of Contents i

858-010-0013	Internship	20
858-010-0016	Standard Application Procedure	2
858-010-0017	Licensure by Endorsement	22
858-010-0018	Investigatory Powers	
858-010-0019	Criminal Conviction Predeterminations	24
858-010-0020	Process and Disposition of Application for License	25
858-010-0025	Procedure for National Written Examination	
858-010-0030	Procedures for Oregon Jurisprudence Examination	27
858-010-0034	Criminal Background Checks	29
858-010-0036	Post-Doctoral Supervised Work Experience	30
858-010-0038	Continued Supervision - Licensed Psychologist Associate	34
858-010-0039	Application for Independent Status – Psychologist Associate	
858-010-0041	License Renewals	
858-010-0050	Inactive Status	
858-010-0055	Limited Permits	
858-010-0056	Temporary Practice Authorization	
858-010-0057	Servicemember Portability Licensure	
858-010-0060	Psychological Records	
858-010-0061	Notification Requirements	
858-010-0062	Designation of Education and Licensure Status	
858-010-0065	Resignation of License Holder	
858-010-0075	Code of Professional Conduct	
858-010-0300	Registered Health Care Interpreters	
858-010-0301	Access to Mental Health Assessment, Treatment, or Services	
858-020-0015	Management of Complaints	
858-020-0025	Complaints on Which the Board Can Act	
858-020-0035	Form of Complaints	
858-020-0045	Notice and Investigation Process	
858-020-0055	Investigator's Report to the Board	
858-020-0075	Contested Case Hearings	
858-020-0085	Board Records	
858-020-0105	Board's Responsibility to the Public	
858-020-0115	Compliance with Governor's Executive Orders	
858-020-0116	Compliance with the Oregon Health Authority's COVID-19 Requirer	
	FEES	
858-030-0005	11 ,	
	CONTINUING EDUCATION	
858-040-0015	Basic Requirements	
858-040-0025	Continuing Education Reporting	
858-040-0026	Continuing Education Random Audit	
858-040-0035	Programs Which Do Not Ovelify for Continuing Education Credit	
858-040-0036	Programs Which Do Not Qualify for Continuing Education Credit	
858-040-0055	Credit Hours Granted	
858-040-0065	Evidence of Completion	
858-040-0070	Failure to Comply	
M2 Ethical Prin	ciples of Psychologists and Code of Conduct	5'

Table of Contents ii

Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 675 2023 EDITION

PSYCHOLOGISTS

(Generally)

675.010 Definitions for ORS 675.010 to 675.150. As used in ORS 675.010 to 675.150, unless the context requires otherwise:

- (1) "Approved doctoral program in psychology" means a doctoral program in psychology accredited by the American Psychological Association or a doctoral program in psychology accredited individually or as part of an institutional accreditation by another private or governmental accrediting agency, when the association's or agency's standards and procedures have been approved by the Oregon Board of Psychology by rule.
 - (2) "Board" means the Oregon Board of Psychology.
- (3) "Licensed psychologist" means a person licensed to practice psychology under the provisions of ORS 675.010 to 675.150.
- (4) "Practice of psychology" means rendering or offering to render supervision, consultation, evaluation or therapy services to individuals, groups or organizations for the purpose of diagnosing or treating behavioral, emotional or mental disorders. "Practice of psychology" also includes delegating the administration and scoring of tests to technicians qualified by and under the direct supervision of a licensed psychologist.
- (5) "State" means any state or territory of the United States and the District of Columbia. [1963 c.396 §1; 1973 c.777 §1; 1981 c.892 §96; 1991 c.490 §1; 1993 c.585 §1; 1995 c.810 §1; 1999 c.443 §1; 2003 c.630 §3; 2017 c.6 §3]
- 675.020 Practice or representation as psychologist prohibited without license; use of business name or designation. (1) To safeguard the people of the State of Oregon from the dangers of unqualified and improper practice of psychology, no person shall, unless exempted from the provisions of ORS 675.010 to 675.150 by ORS 675.090:
- (a) Practice psychology in this state without first being licensed under ORS 675.010 to 675.150; or
- (b) Represent oneself to be a psychologist without first being licensed under ORS 675.010 to 675.150.
- (2) As used in subsection (1)(b) of this section, "represent oneself to be a psychologist" means to use any title or description of services incorporating the words "psychology," "psychological," "psychotherapy" or "psychologist," or to offer or render to individuals or to groups of individuals services included in the practice of psychology.
- (3) A psychologist licensed under ORS 675.010 to 675.150 shall practice under the name of the psychologist only, but nothing in ORS 675.010 to 675.150 or rules adopted thereunder shall be deemed to prevent a licensed psychologist from using an assumed business name or other designation to describe a place, institution, organization or agency where or in connection with which the psychologist conducts practice. [1963 c.396 §2; 1971 c.362 §1; 1973 c.777 §2; 1987 c.158 §136; 1993 c.585 §2; 1995 c.810 §2]

675.025 Application of ORS 58.325 to 58.365. ORS 58.325 to 58.365 shall not apply to professional corporations rendering psychological services. [1985 c.90 §11]

(Licensing)

675.030 Licensing of psychologists after examination; requirements; fee; resident designation; rules. (1) Upon application for licensure accompanied by the established fee, the Oregon Board of Psychology shall issue a psychologist license to an applicant who performs to the satisfaction of the board in examinations prescribed by the board and furnishes evidence satisfactory to the board that the applicant:

- (a) Has complied with all applicable provisions of ORS 675.010 to 675.150 and the applicable rules of the board;
- (b) Holds a doctoral degree in psychology from an approved doctoral program in psychology;
 - (c) Has satisfactorily completed courses and training required by the board;
 - (d) Has had two years of supervised employment in the field of psychology:
- (A) Under the direction of a psychologist licensed in Oregon or under the direction of a person considered by the board to have equivalent supervisory competence; or
 - (B) In the military; and
- (e) Is of good moral character. For purposes of this section, the lack of good moral character may be established by reference to acts or conduct that reflect moral turpitude or to acts or conduct that would cause a reasonable person to have substantial doubts about the individual's honesty, fairness and respect for the rights of others and for the laws of the state and the nation. The conduct or acts in question must be rationally connected to the applicant's fitness to practice psychology.
- (2) The board shall adopt rules by which a person receiving post-doctoral supervision during the application process may enter into a contract to practice psychology under the supervision of a licensed psychologist, psychologist associate or a person considered by the board to have equivalent supervisory competence. An applicant who enters such a contract shall be designated as a psychologist resident or a psychologist associate resident, accordingly, and shall be subject to ORS 675.010 to 675.150. [1963 c.396 §3; 1973 c.777 §3; 1985 c.90 §3; 1991 c.311 §1; 1991 c.490 §2; 1993 c.585 §3; 2005 c.7 §1; 2012 c.43 §4; 2017 c.6 §4]
- **675.040 Examinations for licensing.** (1) Examinations administered by the Oregon Board of Psychology for applicants for licenses under ORS 675.010 to 675.150 shall be held at least once every year at such times and places as the board may determine. Timely and appropriate notice shall be sent to each applicant.
- (2) Any applicant may, upon written request to the board, discuss the applicant's performance on the board administered examination with the board.
- (3) Any applicant who fails to make a passing grade on the board administered examination shall be allowed to take the examination a second time. Any applicant who fails the examination a second time must obtain special permission from the board to take the examination again. [1963 c.396 §4; 1973 c.777 §6; 2005 c.7 §2; 2017 c.6 §5]
- **675.045 Examinations administered by board; rules.** (1) The Oregon Board of Psychology shall adopt rules governing examinations required by the board.
 - (2) When the board requires a board administered examination, the board shall:
- (a) Maintain a complete record of the proceedings and of the questions asked and responses given; and
 - (b) Inform applicants in writing of the examination results for each tested subject area.

- (3) Upon written request to the board, an applicant who fails a board administered examination may review the record of the examination. To ensure and maintain test security, the applicant shall sign a confidentiality agreement prior to reviewing the record of the examination.
 - (4) Any applicant who fails a board administered examination shall be:
- (a) Allowed to petition the board to reconsider the results of the entire examination or the results of a particular tested area.
- (b) Reexamined only in the tested areas in which the applicant did not receive a passing grade. [1985 c.90 §6; 1997 c.681 §1; 2005 c.7 §3; 2017 c.6 §6]
- **675.050** Licensing without national examination; fee; rules. (1) Upon application for licensure accompanied by the established fee, the Oregon Board of Psychology may issue a license, without national examination, to any applicant who furnishes evidence satisfactory to the board that the applicant:
- (a) Holds a doctoral degree from an approved doctoral program in psychology and is licensed or certified to practice psychology in another state in which the requirements for such licensing or certification are, in the judgment of the board, essentially equivalent to licensing requirements of ORS 675.010 to 675.150 and the rules of the board;
 - (b) Is a diplomate in good standing of the American Board of Professional Psychology;
- (c) Is licensed in a jurisdiction that is a party to a licensing reciprocity agreement with the State of Oregon and meets the requirements for reciprocity in the agreement;
- (d) Possesses a valid Certificate of Professional Qualification granted by the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards or is credentialed as a Health Service Provider in Psychology by the National Register of Health Service Providers in Psychology; or
- (e)(A) Possesses and has maintained for at least 15 years a license to practice psychology that is based on a doctoral degree and that is issued by a board that is a member jurisdiction of the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards; and
 - (B) Meets other requirements established by the Oregon Board of Psychology.
- (2) The Oregon Board of Psychology shall adopt by rule and administer an examination on Oregon law to an applicant described in subsection (1) of this section. [1963 c.396 §5; 1973 c.777 §7; 1985 c.90 §4; 1991 c.320 §1; 1993 c.585 §4; 2003 c.14 §429; 2003 c.316 §1; 2005 c.7 §4; 2017 c.6 §7]
- 675.063 Limited permit to practice as psychologist; duration. Upon application therefor and payment of the required fee, the Oregon Board of Psychology may issue a limited permit to practice as a psychologist to an applicant holding a certificate or license to practice psychology issued by another state whose requirements are, in the judgment of the board, essentially equivalent to those required by ORS 675.010 to 675.150. The limited permit shall be valid for a period of not more than 180 calendar days in any 24-month period. [1973 c.777 §15; 1987 c.56 §1; 1997 c.249 §204; 1999 c.59 §201; 2017 c.6 §8]

675.065 [1973 c.777 §5; 1987 c.158 §137; 1991 c.490 §3; 1993 c.585 §5; 1999 c.443 §2; 2005 c.7 §5; 2017 c.6 §9; repealed by 2021 c.211 §5]

(Temporary provisions relating to psychologist associate licenses issued before January 1, 2022)

Note: Sections 1, 2 and 4, chapter 211, Oregon Laws 2021, provide:

- **Sec. 1.** Section 2 of this 2021 Act is added to and made a part of ORS 675.010 to 675.150. [2021 c.211 §1]
- **Sec. 2.** (1) A psychologist associate licensed by the Oregon Board of Psychology before the operative date specified in section 6 of this 2021 Act [January 1, 2022] may perform specific functions within the practice of psychology if the psychologist associate is under the periodic direct supervision of a psychologist licensed by the board. The functions may include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Administering tests of mental abilities; and
- (b) Conducting personality assessments and counseling, including educational and vocational planning.
- (2) Upon a petition by a psychologist associate, the board may grant to the psychologist associate the authority to perform the functions specified under subsection (1) of this section without periodic direct supervision.
 - (3) The board may adopt rules to carry out this section. [2021 c.211 §2]
- **Sec. 4.** The Oregon Board of Psychology shall continue to regulate persons who were licensed by the board as psychologist associates before the operative date specified in section 6 of this 2021 Act [January 1, 2022]. [2021 c.211 §4]
- 675.070 Authorized sanctions; grounds for imposing sanctions; civil penalty. (1) If any of the grounds enumerated in subsection (2) of this section exist, the Oregon Board of Psychology may impose any of the following sanctions:
 - (a) Deny a license to an applicant;
 - (b) Refuse to renew the license of a psychologist or psychologist associate;
- (c) Suspend the license of a psychologist or psychologist associate for a period of not less than one year;
 - (d) Issue a letter of reprimand;
- (e) Impose probation with authority to restrict the scope of practice of a psychologist or psychologist associate or require practice under supervision;
 - (f) Revoke the license of a psychologist or psychologist associate; or
 - (g) Impose a civil penalty as described in subsection (3) of this section.
- (2) Subject to subsection (7) of this section, the board may impose a sanction listed in subsection (1) of this section against a psychologist or psychologist associate or applicant, or, if applicable, an unlicensed person found in violation of ORS 675.010 to 675.150, when, in the judgment of the board, the person:
 - (a) Has an impairment as defined in ORS 676.303;
 - (b) Has been convicted of violation of a law relating to controlled substances;
 - (c) Has been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude;
- (d) Is guilty of immoral or unprofessional conduct or of gross negligence in the practice of psychology, including but not limited to:
- (A) Conduct or practice contrary to recognized standard of ethics of the psychological profession or conduct or practice that constitutes a danger to the health or safety of a patient or the public, or conduct, practice or a condition that adversely affects a psychologist or psychologist associate's ability to practice psychology safely and skillfully.
- (B) Willful ordering or performing of unnecessary tests or studies, administration of unnecessary treatment, failure to obtain consultations or perform referrals when failing to do so is not consistent with the standard of care, or otherwise ordering or performing a psychological service or treatment that is contrary to recognized standards of practice of the psychological profession;

- (e) Has practiced or attempted to practice medicine without being licensed to do so;
- (f) Has obtained or attempted to obtain a license under ORS 675.010 to 675.150 by fraud or material misrepresentation;
- (g) Has impersonated a licensed psychologist or psychologist associate or has allowed another person to use the license of the psychologist;
- (h) Has violated a provision of ORS 675.010 to 675.150 or 675.850 or a provision of the code of professional conduct formulated under ORS 675.110 (13);
- (i) Has obtained a fee or payment from a patient or third party payer through fraud or intentional misrepresentation; or
- (j) Notwithstanding ORS 670.280, has been convicted of a sex crime as defined in ORS 163A.005 or has been convicted in another state or jurisdiction of a crime that is substantially equivalent to a sex crime as defined in ORS 163A.005.
 - (3) The board may impose a civil penalty under subsection (1) of this section:
 - (a) In an amount not to exceed \$5,000; or
 - (b) In an amount not to exceed \$10,000, if any of the following conditions exist:
- (A) The conduct giving rise to the penalty had a serious detrimental effect on the health or safety of another person;
- (B) The person subject to the penalty has a history of discipline for the same or similar conduct;
 - (C) The conduct giving rise to the penalty involves a willful or reckless disregard of the law;
- (D) The conduct giving rise to the penalty was perpetrated against a minor, an elderly person or a person with a disability; or
- (E) The person subject to the penalty violated ORS 675.020 by practicing psychology or representing that the person is a psychologist without having a license.
- (4) Except as provided in subsection (7) of this section, if a conviction described in subsection (2) of this section is used as grounds for denial, refusal, suspension, revocation, reprimand, probation or imposition of a civil penalty, a certified copy of the record of the conviction shall be conclusive evidence.
- (5) The board may license an applicant or renew or restore a license suspended or revoked under subsection (2)(a) of this section due to a mental health condition if the board determines that the applicant or former licensed psychologist or former psychologist associate no longer has an impairment due to a mental health condition.
- (6) Except as provided in subsection (7) of this section, license suspension or revocation in another state is grounds for license denial or disciplinary action by the board.
- (7) The board may not suspend or revoke a person's license to practice psychology, or refuse to grant a license to practice psychology to a person, because of a conviction or license suspension or revocation resulting solely from the person's provision of psychological services relating to reproductive or gender-affirming health care that are otherwise lawful in this state but unlawful in the jurisdiction in which the person provided the services, so long as the services provided were performed in accordance with the standard of care applicable to the services. [1963 c.396 §8; 1973 c.777 §10; 1979 c.744 §49; 1985 c.90 §7; 1989 c.44 §1; 1989 c.217 §1; 1989 c.444 §1; 2009 c.441 §1; 2009 c.756 §6; 2015 c.79 §2; 2015 c.611 §1; 2017 c.6 §10; 2017 c.104 §12; 2023 c.228 §31a]
- **675.075** Confidentiality of information obtained under ORS 675.070 or 675.085. (1) Any information that the Oregon Board of Psychology obtains under ORS 675.070 or 675.085 is confidential as provided under ORS 676.175.

- (2) Any person who in good faith provides information to the board shall not be subject to an action for civil damages as a result thereof. [1989 c.438 §2; 1997 c.791 §10; 2017 c.6 §11]
- **675.085 Investigation; disciplinary procedure.** (1) Upon receipt of a complaint under ORS 675.010 to 675.150, the Oregon Board of Psychology shall conduct an investigation as described under ORS 676.165.
- (2) Where the board proposes to refuse to issue a license or to impose any disciplinary action under ORS 675.070, opportunity for hearing shall be accorded as provided in ORS chapter 183. The board shall render its decision within 30 days after the hearing.
- (3) Adoption of rules, conduct of hearings, issuance of orders and judicial review of rules and orders shall be as provided in ORS chapter 183. [1971 c.734 §117; 1973 c.777 §11; 1985 c.90 §8; 1997 c.791 §11; 2017 c.6 §12]
- 675.087 Continuing authority of board upon lapse, suspension, revocation or voluntary surrender of license. The lapse, suspension or revocation of a license issued under ORS 675.010 to 675.150 by the operation of law, by order of the Oregon Board of Psychology or by the decision of a court of law, or the voluntary surrender of a license by a licensee, does not deprive the board of jurisdiction to proceed with any investigation of or any action or disciplinary proceeding against the licensee or to revise or render null and void an order suspending or revoking the license. [2005 c.8 §2; 2017 c.6 §13]

675.090 Application of ORS 675.010 to 675.150. (1) ORS 675.010 to 675.150 do not apply to:

- (a) A person who teaches psychology, conducts psychological research or provides consulting services to an organization or institution, provided that the person does not supervise direct psychological services and does not treat any behavioral, emotional or mental disorder of an individual.
- (b) The provision of expert testimony by a person described in paragraph (a) of this subsection.
- (c) A graduate student enrolled in an approved psychology program who is pursuing a graduate degree in psychology, provided that the graduate student renders services only for academic credit as part of an organized and supervised training program.
- (d) A person pursuing certification, licensure or a graduate degree in any of the certified or licensed professions exempted from ORS 675.010 to 675.150.
- (e) A person who is licensed, certified or otherwise authorized by the State of Oregon to provide mental health services, provided that the services are rendered within the person's lawful scope of practice and that the person does not use the title "psychologist" in connection with the activities described in this paragraph.
- (f) A person who is employed by a local, state or federal government agency or a public university listed in ORS 352.002, or employed by a community mental health program or drug and alcohol treatment program licensed or certified by the State of Oregon, to the extent that the person's activities and services are rendered within the person's scope of employment and are performed within the confines of the employing agency and provided that the person does not use the title "psychologist" in connection with the activities authorized under this paragraph.
- (g) A person who is a recognized member of the clergy, provided that the person is acting in the person's ministerial capacity and does not use the title "psychologist."

- (h) A person who has credentials as a school psychologist, provided that the person is an employee of an educational institution and practices only within a school setting. A person acting under this paragraph may use the title "school psychologist."
- (2)(a) Notwithstanding subsection (1)(f) of this section, a person with a doctoral degree in psychology who is employed by and practicing psychology at a local, state or federal government agency, a public university listed in ORS 352.002 or a community mental health program or drug and alcohol treatment program licensed or certified by the State of Oregon may practice psychology without a license under ORS 675.010 to 675.150 for no more than 24 months after the person begins practicing psychology at the agency or program.
 - (b) Before the person obtains a license under ORS 675.010 to 675.150:
- (A) The person may practice psychology only within the scope of the person's employment and within the confines of the employing agency or program; and
 - (B) The person may not use the title "psychologist."
- (3) A person performing the functions described in subsection (1)(a) and (b) of this section may use the title "psychologist" only if the person holds a doctoral degree in psychology from an approved doctoral program in psychology.
- (4) A person described in subsection (1)(c) of this section may use the title "psychological intern" or "psychological trainee," provided that the training program described in subsection (1)(c) of this section is under the supervision and responsibility of a licensed psychologist in accordance with rules adopted by the Oregon Board of Psychology.
- (5) Nothing in this section exempts from ORS 675.010 to 675.150 a person whose license to practice psychology is revoked or suspended because the person engaged in sexual activity with a client. [1963 c.396 §10; 1971 c.362 §2; 1973 c.777 §8; 1985 c.90 §9; 1989 c.491 §66; 1991 c.67 §178; 1993 c.585 §6; 1995 c.810 §3; 1997 c.249 §205; 2009 c.441 §2; 2013 c.59 §1; 2017 c.6 §14; 2019 c.384 §4]

(Board)

- **675.100 Oregon Board of Psychology.** (1) There hereby is created the Oregon Board of Psychology consisting of nine members appointed by the Governor and subject to confirmation by the Senate in the manner provided in ORS 171.562 and 171.565. All members of the board must be Oregon residents. Of the members of the board:
- (a) Six of the members must have doctoral or master's degrees with primary emphasis in psychology and must be licensed psychologists or former licensed psychologists who are retired from the practice of psychology; and
 - (b) Three of the members must be members of the public and may not be:
 - (A) Otherwise eligible for appointment to the board; or
 - (B) A spouse, domestic partner, child, parent or sibling of a licensed psychologist.
- (2)(a) Board members required to be licensed psychologists may be appointed from a list of three to five nominees for each vacancy, submitted by any professional organization that represents psychologists.
- (b) In selecting the members of the board, the Governor shall strive to balance the representation on the board according to:
 - (A) Geographic areas of this state; and
 - (B) Ethnic group.
- (3)(a) The term of office of a board member is three years, but a member serves at the pleasure of the Governor. The terms must be staggered so that no more than three terms end each year.

- (b) Before the expiration of the term of a member, the Governor shall appoint a successor to assume duties on July 1 next following. A member is eligible for reappointment. In case of a vacancy for any cause, the Governor shall make an appointment to become immediately effective for the unexpired term.
- (c) A board member shall be removed immediately from the board if, during the member's term, the member:
 - (A) Is not a resident of this state;
- (B) Has been absent from three consecutive board meetings, unless at least one absence is excused; or
- (C) Is not a licensed psychologist or a retired psychologist who was a licensed psychologist in good standing at the time of retirement, if the board member was appointed to serve on the board as a psychologist.
- (4) Before entering upon the duties of office, each board member shall subscribe to an oath that the member will faithfully and impartially discharge the duties of office and that the member will support the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of this state. The oath shall be filed with the Secretary of State.
- (5) Each member of the board is entitled to compensation and expenses as provided in ORS 292.495. The board may provide by rule for compensation to board members for the performance of official duties at a rate that is greater than the rate provided in ORS 292.495. [1963 c.396 §11; 1969 c.314 §77; 1973 c.777 §9a; 1973 c.792 §32; 2009 c.400 §1; 2009 c.535 §1; 2009 c.756 §7; 2017 c.6 §15]
- **675.110 Powers of board; rules; fees.** In addition to the powers otherwise granted under ORS 675.010 to 675.150, the Oregon Board of Psychology has all powers necessary or proper to:
- (1) Determine qualifications of applicants to practice psychology in this state, prepare, conduct and grade examinations and license qualified applicants who comply with the provisions of ORS 675.010 to 675.150 and the rules of the board.
- (2) Grant or deny renewal of licenses and renew licenses that have lapsed for nonpayment of the renewal fee, subject to the provisions of ORS 675.010 to 675.150.
 - (3) Suspend or revoke licenses, subject to ORS 675.010 to 675.150.
- (4) Issue letters of reprimand and impose probationary periods with the authority to restrict the scope of practice of a licensed psychologist or to require practice under supervision.
 - (5) Impose civil penalties as provided in ORS 675.070.
- (6) Restore licenses that have been suspended or revoked or voided by nonpayment of the renewal fee.
- (7) Collect fees for application, examination and licensing of applicants, for renewal of licenses and for issuance of limited permits and use the fees to defray the expenses of the board as provided in ORS 675.140.
- (8) Collect a delinquent renewal fee for licenses renewed after the deadline for renewal but before the grace period for renewal has expired.
 - (9) Investigate alleged violations of ORS 675.010 to 675.150.
- (10) Issue subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses, take testimony, administer oaths or affirmations to witnesses, conduct hearings and require the production of relevant documents in all proceedings pertaining to the duties and powers of the board.
- (11) Enforce ORS 675.010 to 675.150 and exercise general supervision over the practice of psychology in this state.
 - (12) Adopt a common seal.

- (13) Formulate a code of professional conduct for the practice of psychology giving particular consideration to the Ethical Standards of Psychologists promulgated by the American Psychological Association.
- (14) Establish standards of service and training and educational qualifications for rendering ethical psychological services in this state, including the formulation of standards for the issuance of licenses for areas of special competence.
- (15) Formulate and enforce continuing education requirements for duly licensed psychologists to ensure the highest quality of professional services to the public.
- (16) Deny renewal of a license, or renewal of a license that has lapsed for nonpayment of the renewal fee, unless the applicant completes, or provides documentation of completion within the previous 36 months of:
- (a) A one-hour pain management education program approved by the board and developed based on recommendations of the Pain Management Commission; or
 - (b) An equivalent pain management education program, as determined by the board.
- (17) For the purpose of requesting a state or nationwide criminal records check under ORS 181A.195, require the fingerprints of a person who is:
 - (a) Applying for a license that is issued by the board;
 - (b) Applying for renewal of a license that is issued by the board; or
 - (c) Under investigation by the board.
- (18) Prescribe, in consultation with the Oregon Board of Licensed Professional Counselors and Therapists, the duties of the Director of the Mental Health Regulatory Agency.
- (19) Subject to the applicable provisions of ORS chapter 183, adopt reasonable rules to carry out the provisions of ORS 675.010 to 675.150. [1963 c.396 §12; 1973 c.39 §1; 1973 c.777 §12; 1983 c.289 §1; 1985 c.90 §10; 2001 c.987 §12; 2003 c.630 §§1,2; 2005 c.730 §§62,63; 2007 c.94 §1; 2011 c.96 §1; 2017 c.6 §16; 2017 c.104 §13; 2021 c.50 §4]
- 675.115 How fees determined. Subject to prior approval of the Oregon Department of Administrative Services, the fees and charges established under ORS 675.110 shall not exceed the cost of administering the regulatory program of the Oregon Board of Psychology pertaining to the purpose for which the fee or charge is established, as authorized by the Legislative Assembly within the board's budget, as the budget may be modified by the Emergency Board. [1983 c.289 §2; 1991 c.703 §19; 2017 c.6 §17; 2023 c.602 §16]
- **Note:** 675.115 was enacted into law by the Legislative Assembly but was not added to or made a part of ORS chapter 675 or any series therein by legislative action. See Preface to Oregon Revised Statutes for further explanation.
- **675.130 Officers; quorum; meetings; records; executive director.** (1) The Oregon Board of Psychology shall select one of its members as chairperson, and another as vice chairperson, for the terms and with the powers and duties necessary for the performance of the functions of the offices determined by the board.
 - (2) A majority of the board constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business.
- (3) The board shall meet at least once a year at a place, day and hour determined by the board. The board shall also meet at other times and places as specified by the call of the chairperson, or of a majority of the members of the board or of the Governor.
- (4) The board shall maintain records of all board proceedings under ORS 675.010 to 675.150.

- (5) The board shall maintain a register of all living psychologists licensed under ORS 675.010 to 675.150 that includes the names, last-known business addresses, last-known residential addresses and the dates and numbers of the licenses of the psychologists. [1963 c.396 §14; 1973 c.777 §14; 1983 c.740 §249; 2009 c.756 §8; 2017 c.6 §18; 2017 c.104 §14]
- 675.140 Oregon Board of Psychology Account; appropriation. On or before the 10th day of each month, the Oregon Board of Psychology shall pay into the State Treasury all moneys received by the board during the preceding calendar month. The State Treasurer shall credit the moneys to the Oregon Board of Psychology Account. The moneys in the Oregon Board of Psychology Account are continuously appropriated to the board for the purpose of paying the expenses of administering and enforcing ORS 675.010 to 675.150, 675.172, 676.850 and 676.860. [1963 c.396 §15; 1967 c.637 §28; 1973 c.777 §17; 2013 c.240 §3; 2017 c.6 §19; 2017 c.104 §15; 2017 c.511 §3; 2021 c.114 §3]

(Miscellaneous)

675.145 Duty to report prohibited conduct. Unless state or federal laws relating to confidentiality or the protection of health information prohibit disclosure, a licensed psychologist who has reasonable cause to believe that a licensee of another board has engaged in prohibited conduct as defined in ORS 676.150 shall report the prohibited conduct in the manner provided in ORS 676.150. [2009 c.536 §26]

(Enforcement)

675.150 Enforcement procedures. The Oregon Board of Psychology may institute and commence injunction proceedings in any circuit court in Oregon to enjoin the unlawful practice of psychology. In any such proceeding it shall not be necessary to show that any person is individually injured by the actions complained of. If the person complained of is found by the court to have unlawfully engaged in practice of psychology, the court may enjoin the person from so practicing. Procedure in such cases shall be the same as any other injunction suit. The remedy by injunction hereby given is in addition to criminal prosecution and punishment. [1973 c.777 §13; 2017 c.6 §21]

PENALTIES

- **675.990 Penalties.** (1)(a) Violation of any provision of ORS 675.010 to 675.150 is a Class C misdemeanor.
- (b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this subsection, violation of ORS 675.020 is a Class A misdemeanor.
 - (2) Violation of any provision of ORS 675.220 is a Class B misdemeanor.
 - (3) The following shall be Class C misdemeanors:
 - (a) Any violation of ORS 675.520;
- (b) Obtaining or attempting to obtain or renew an authorization to practice regulated social work by bribery or fraudulent representation;
- (c) Knowingly making a false statement in connection with any application for an authorization to practice regulated social work under ORS 675.510 to 675.600; or
- (d) Knowingly making a false statement on any form adopted by the State Board of Licensed Social Workers in accordance with ORS 675.510 to 675.600, or the rules adopted under ORS 675.510 to 675.600. [1963 c.396 §18; 1973 c.777 §18; subsection (2) enacted as 1977 c.858 §18;

subsection (3) enacted as 1977 c.677 §11; 1979 c.769 §10; 1989 c.721 §44; subsection (1)(b) of 1995 Edition enacted as 1995 c.810 §4; 2009 c.442 §25]



OREGON BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGY

Oregon Administrative Rules Chapter 858

The official copy of an Oregon Administrative Rule is contained in the Administrative Order filed at the Archives Division, 800 Summer St. NE, Salem, Oregon 97310. Any discrepancies with the published version are satisfied in favor of the Administrative Order. The Oregon Administrative Rules and the Oregon Bulletin are copyrighted by the Oregon Secretary of State.

DIVISION 10 - PROCEDURAL RULES

858-010-0001 Definitions

- (1) The practice of psychology is defined to include:
- (a) "Evaluation" means assessing or diagnosing mental disorders or mental functioning, including administering, scoring, and interpreting tests of mental abilities or personality;
- (b) "Therapy" means, but is not limited to, treating mental disorders as defined by the Fifth Edition, Text Revision of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5-TR) published by the American Psychiatric Association;
- (c) "Consultation" means conferring or giving expert advice on the diagnosis or treatment of mental disorders;
- (d) "Supervision" means the ongoing process performed by a supervisor who monitors the performance of the person supervised and provides regular, documented individual consultation, guidance and instruction with respect to the skills and competencies of the person supervised.
- (2) "ABPP" means the American Board of Professional Psychology.
- (3) "APA" means the American Psychological Association.
- (4) "Applicant" means a person who submits to the Board a complete application for licensure with the appropriate fees.
- (5) "ASPPB" means the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards.
- (6) "Board" means the Oregon Board of Psychology.
- (7) "Candidate for Licensure" means a person who has satisfactorily completed the appropriate educational and experience requirements for licensure and has been deemed eligible by the Board to sit for the required examinations.
- (8) "CE" means continuing education.

- (9) "Client" or "patient" means direct recipients of psychological services, which may include child, adolescent, adult, older adult, couple, family, group, organization, community, or any other individual.
- (10) "CPQ" means the Certificate of Professional Qualification in Psychology issued by the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards.
- (11) "EPPP" means the Examination for Professional Practice in Psychology developed and owned by the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards.
- (12) "Full-time graduate study" means six semester hours or nine quarter hours.
- (13) "HSPP" means the Health Service Provider in Psychology credential issued by the National Register of Health Service Providers in Psychology.
- (14) "Internship" means an ongoing, supervised and organized practical experience obtained in an integrated training program identified as a psychology internship. Other supervised experience or on-the-job training does not constitute an internship.
- (15) "NPDB" means the National Practitioner Data Bank maintained by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- (16) "Petitioner" means a person who submits to the Board a complete petition for licensure predetermination with the appropriate fee.
- (17) "Practicum" means a formal, pre-degree organized training experience designed to develop a foundation of clinical skills and professional competence with diverse client populations, and to prepare for more substantial responsibilities required in internship.
- (18) "Psychology program" means an integrated program of doctoral study designed to train professional psychologists to deliver services in psychology.
- (19) "Regionally accredited institution" means an educational institution that is accredited by one of the following six institutional (regional) accrediting agencies recognized by the United States Secretary of Education established to accredit senior institutions of higher education:
- (a) Middle States Commission on Higher Education (MSCHE);
- (b) New England Commission of Higher Education (NECHE);
- (c) Higher Learning Commission (HCL);
- (d) Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities (NWCCU);
- (e) Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC); and
- (f) WASC Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC).

- (20) "Residency" means a post-terminal degree, supervised experience approved by the board.
- (21) "Specialty" means a defined area of psychological practice that requires advanced knowledge and skills acquired through an organized sequence of education and training. The advanced knowledge and skills specific to a specialty are obtained subsequent to the acquisition of core scientific and professional foundations in psychology.
- (22) "Supervision" means the ongoing process performed by a supervisor who monitors the performance of the person supervised and provides regular, documented individual and group consultation, guidance and instruction with respect to the skills and competencies of the person supervised.
- (23) "Supervisor" means an individual who assumes full responsibility for the education and training activities of a person and provides the supervision required by such a person.
- (24) "Treatment" means services provided to an individual, group or organization for the purpose of improving mental health and/or alleviating behavioral, emotional or mental disorders.

858-010-0002 Guidelines for Supervising Technicians

A licensee may delegate administration and scoring of tests to technicians as provided in ORS 675.010(4) if the licensee ensures the technicians are adequately trained to administer and score the specific test being used; and ensures that the technicians maintain standards for the testing environment and testing administration as set forth in the American Psychological Association Standards for Educational and Psychological Tests (1999) and Ethical Principles for Psychologists (2002).

858-010-0003 Psychology Practice in Oregon

A person practices psychology in Oregon if:

- (1) The person renders or offers to render supervision, consultation, evaluation, or therapy services to an individual located in Oregon, or to a group or organization which includes an individual located in Oregon, regardless of whether the services are rendered, or offered to be rendered, in-person or by telephone, virtual means, or other remote communications technology; or
- (2) The person represents to an individual located in Oregon that the person is a psychologist, regardless of whether that representation is targeted to the individual or made generally.

858-010-0005 Board Duties and Procedure

(1) Board Meetings. The Board shall meet as necessary at a time and place specified by the Board and at such other times and places as specified by the chair of the Board, a majority of members of the Board or by the Governor. The time and place of all meetings shall be posted on the Board's website.

- (2) Board Member Compensation:
- (a) Board members shall receive compensation that is equal to the per diem paid to members of the Legislative Assembly under ORS 171.072(9) for each day or portion thereof where the member is engaged in the performance of official duties, which includes Board and committee meetings and activities that the Board or Executive Director has pre-approved or requested.
- (b) Compensation provided under Section (a) shall be in addition to the allowable reimbursement for travel or other expenses.
- (c) Board members may decline to accept compensation or reimbursement of expenses.
- (3) Internal Organization. At the last meeting in each fiscal year, the first order of business shall be organizational matters, including election of Board chair and vice-chair and the assignment of standing responsibilities to Board members. The term of the chair, vice-chair or any standing assigned responsibility can be changed or terminated at any meeting where the proposal has been placed on the agenda and sent to the members one week in advance of the meeting, or by unanimous consent of the Board.
- (4) Chair and Vice Chair Responsibilities:
- (a) The chair is authorized to take emergency action between Board meetings. "Emergency action" means an action that is required on short notice to protect the public from harm, including temporary administrative rulemaking and orders of emergency suspension. All emergency actions of any kind shall be noted in the agenda for the next meeting for ratification by the Board.
- (b) The vice-chair shall perform the duties of the chair when the chair is unable to do so.
- (5) Board Communications. Only the Board chair shall write other than routine or form letters in the name of the Board unless members are specifically authorized in a Board meeting to do so. The Board should approve in advance any correspondence that may materially affect Board policies and procedures. When a delay might render the Board's functioning ineffective, the chair may be required to take immediate action that shall be reviewed at the next meeting of the Board.
- (6) Board Records. The Board Executive Director is responsible for maintaining the Board's records. Individual members who have Board records in their possession or control are responsible for their protection and privacy.
- (7) Minutes and Agendas:
- (a) The minutes of a meeting shall ordinarily be distributed to all Board members at least one week in advance of the next meeting; and
- (b) The agenda shall ordinarily be prepared by the Board chair or Board Executive Director and distributed to all Board members at least one week before each meeting. The agenda items shall include reports by the Board Executive Director, the chair and each Board member who has received a specific assignment at the previous meeting or has a report to make regarding standing

assignments. If there is insufficient time to inform the Board chair, the Board Executive Director shall make additional scheduling at the direct request of Board members. The Board may at its discretion, revise the agenda or limit it to a particular topic under special circumstances. Reports may be added as an addendum to the minutes of any meeting.

(8) The Board adopts the Attorney General's Model Rules of Procedure, OAR Chapter 137, Divisions 1 through 5, as its rules of procedure under the Administrative Procedure Act.

858-010-0007 Notice of Proposed Rule

Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of a permanent rule, the Board of Psychology shall give notice of the proposed adoption, amendment, or repeal:

- (1) In the Secretary of State's Bulletin pursuant to in ORS 183.360;
- (2) By mailing or emailing a copy of the notice to individuals on the Board's mailing list established pursuant to ORS 183.335(8);
- (3) By mailing or emailing a copy of the notice to the following individuals, organizations, or publications:
- (a) All licensees of the Board;
- (b) Oregon Psychological Association; and
- (c) All applicants for licensure.
- (4) Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule of the Board relating to continuing education, the Board shall additionally mail a copy of the notice to the State Higher Education Coordinating Commission.

858-010-0010 Education Requirements – Psychologist

To meet the education requirement of ORS 675.030(1), applicants for licensure must possess a doctoral degree in psychology from an approved doctoral program in psychology, as set forth below:

- (1) A program accredited by the American Psychological Association (APA) or the Canadian Psychological Association (CPA) as of the date the degree was conferred; or
- (2) A program accredited by the Psychological Clinical Science Accreditation System (PCSAS) as of the date the degree was conferred; or
- (3) A program at an institution of higher learning that was regionally accredited as of the date the degree was conferred, if the program submitted an application to the APA or CPA for accreditation prior to the date the degree was conferred and has been granted a site visit by the APA or CPA. The program must not have withdrawn its APA or CPA accreditation application or have been denied accreditation as of the date the licensure applicant enrolled in the program; or

- (4) A foreign program where APA or CPA accreditation is not available. The applicant must have their program evaluated by a credentialing body recognized by the Board. Submission of foreign degree evaluation and cost of the foreign degree qualification determination are the responsibility of the applicant. The applicant must show that their graduate program in psychology meets all of the following requirements:
- (a) A minimum of three academic years of full-time graduate study.
- (b) A minimum of one continuous year in-residence at the institution from which the degree is granted.
- (A) One continuous year means two consecutive semesters or three consecutive quarters.
- (B) In-residence means physical presence, in person, at an educational institution or training facility in a manner that facilitates acculturation into the profession, the full participation and integration of the individual in the educational and training experience, and includes faculty and student interaction.
- (C) The doctoral program may include distance education, but a minimum of one continuous year of the program shall be in-residence. Programs that use physical presence, including face-to-face contact for durations of less than one continuous year, (e.g., multiple long weekends and/or summer intensive sessions) or that use video teleconferencing or other electronic means as a substitute for physical presence at the institution do not meet the in-residence requirement.
- (c) The program, wherever it may be administratively housed, must be clearly identified and labeled as a program in psychology. Such a program must specify in pertinent institutional catalogues and brochures its intent to educate and train professional psychologists.
- (d) The psychology program must stand as a recognizable, coherent organizational entity within the institution.
- (e) There must be a clear authority and primary responsibility for the core and specialty areas, whether or not the program cuts across administrative lines.
- (f) The program must be an integrated, organized sequence of study.
- (g) There must be an identifiable psychology faculty sufficient in size and breadth to carry out its responsibilities and a psychologist responsible for the program.
- (h) The program must have an identifiable body of students who are matriculated in that program for a degree.
- (i) The program must include a coordinated, sequential and supervised practicum appropriate to the practice of psychology as described in OAR 858-010-0012.

- (j) The program must include a coordinated, sequential and supervised internship, field or laboratory training appropriate to the practice of psychology as described in OAR 858-010-0013.
- (k) The curriculum of the program must:
- (A) Encompass a minimum of three academic years of full time graduate study, including a minimum of one continuous year in residence at the educational institution granting the doctoral degree;
- (B) Require an original dissertation or equivalent that was psychological in nature that meets the requirement for an approved doctoral program; and
- (C) Include at least 30 semester hours or 45 quarter hours of credit in graded (not "pass-no pass") courses.
- (1) The core program shall include a minimum of three graduate semester hours or 4.5 or more graduate quarter hours (when an academic term is other than a semester, credit hours will be evaluated on the basis of 15 hours of classroom instruction per semester hour) in each of the following substantive content areas:
- (A) Scientific and professional ethics and standards;
- (B) Research design and methodology;
- (C) Statistics;
- (D) Psychometric theory;
- (E) Biological bases of behavior such as physiological psychology, comparative psychology, neuropsychology, sensation and perception, physical ergonomics, or psychopharmacology;
- (F) Cognitive-affective bases of behavior such as learning, thinking, motivation, emotion, memory, cognitive information processing, or social cognition;
- (G) Social bases of behavior such as social psychology, group processes, organizational and systems theory; and
- (H) Individual differences in behavior such as personality theory, human development, personnel psychology or abnormal psychology.
- (m) All professional education programs in psychology must include course requirements in developed practice areas/specialties.
- (n) The program must demonstrate that it provides training relevant to the development of competence to practice in a diverse and multicultural society.
- (o) Demonstration of competence in clinical psychology shall be met by a minimum of 18 graduate semester hours or 27 graduate quarter hours in the following areas: personality and

intellectual assessment, diagnosis, therapeutic intervention, and evaluating the efficacy of intervention.

- (p) If the program does not meet the core and/or clinical coursework requirements of (l) and (o), the applicant for licensure may remedy a deficiency of up to 6 semester hours or 9 quarter hours by completing graduate level coursework in the deficient content area(s) at a regionally accredited institution.
- (5) Applicants must provide syllabi or other documentation regarding course content upon the Board's request.

858-010-0012 Practicum

- (1) The degree program required in OAR 858-010-0010 must include an organized practicum of at least two semesters (or three quarters) and at least 300 hours of supervised psychological services as defined in OAR 858-010-0036(1)(b).
- (2) Supervision must include the following:
- (a) Discussion of services provided by the student;
- (b) Selection of service plan for and review of each case or work unit of the student;
- (c) Discussion of and instruction in theoretical concepts underlying the work;
- (d) Discussion of the management of professional practice and other administrative or business issues;
- (e) Evaluation of the supervisory process by the student and the supervisor;
- (f) Discussion of coordination of services among the professionals involved in the particular cases or work units;
- (g) Discussion of relevant state laws and rules;
- (h) Discussion of ethical principles including principles applicable to the work;
- (i) Review of standards for providers of psychological services; and
- (j) Discussion of reading materials relevant to cases, ethical issues and the supervisory process.

858-010-0013 Internship

- (1) Applicants must successfully complete an organized internship as part of the degree program required in OAR 858-010-0010.
- (2) The internship must include at least 1,500 hours of supervised experience and be completed within twenty-four months.

- (3) The internship program must meet the following requirements:
- (a) The internship must have a written statement or brochure describing the goals and content of the internship, stating clear expectations and quality of student work, and made available to prospective interns.
- (b) A psychologist licensed by the appropriate state or provincial licensing authority must be clearly designated as responsible for the integrity and quality of the internship program.
- (c) Interns must use titles indicating their training status.
- (d) The internship must be designed to provide a planned sequence of training experiences focusing on breadth and quality of training. Supervision and training related to ethics must be ongoing.
- (e) At least twenty-five percent of the internship experience must be in direct client contact providing assessment and intervention services.
- (f) For every 40 hours of internship experience, the student must receive:
- (A) At least 2 hours of regularly scheduled, formal, one-on-one individual supervision that addresses the direct psychological services provided by the intern; and
- (B) At least 2 hours of other learning activities such as case conferences, seminars on applied issues, conducting co-therapy with a staff person including discussion of the case, and group supervision.
- (4) Supervision of the internship experience.
- (a) The internship setting must have two or more psychologists available as supervisors, at least one of whom is licensed as a psychologist.
- (b) The internship experience must be supervised by the person(s) responsible for the assigned casework.
- (c) At least seventy-five percent of the supervision must be by a licensed psychologist with two years post-license experience.

858-010-0016 Standard Application Procedure

- (1) Filing of Applications. Applicants must submit a complete application for licensure to the Board. The Board shall process each submitted application to determine if the application file is ready for review. Applications are considered ready for review for completeness when the following items have been received:
- (a) Final graduate level transcript(s) imprinted with date degree was awarded;
- (b) Reference forms;

- (c) Social Security Number Authorization form;
- (d) For non-APA accredited schools only:
- (A) University Accreditation form;
- (B) Educational Record in Psychology form; and
- (C) Verification of pre-degree supervised work.
- (e) Verification of post-degree supervised work experience (if completed);
- (f) National written examination (EPPP) score (if taken);
- (g) Verification of licensure in good standing in other states (if any);
- (h) Application fee;
- (i) Fingerprinting fee and results of the criminal background check; and
- (j) Other clarifying information requested by the Board.
- (2) The Board may issue a license if the candidate for licensure:
- (a) Meets the education requirements of OAR 858-010-0010;
- (b) Completes the supervised work experience requirements of OAR 858-010-0036 or 858-010-0037.
- (c) Passes the national written examination (EPPP); and
- (d) Passes the Oregon Jurisprudence Examination.

858-010-0017 Licensure by Endorsement

Applicants that possess and have maintained an active license to practice psychology issued by a board that is a member jurisdiction of the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards based on a doctoral degree may be licensed by endorsement.

- (1) All applicants for licensure by endorsement must submit the following items before their application file will be reviewed for completeness:
- (a) A complete Licensure by Endorsement Application;
- (b) Fingerprinting fee and results of criminal background check per OAR 858-010-0034;
- (c) An official verification of licensure in good standing from each health care professional license or registration, current or expired; and

- (d) Other clarifying information or documentation required by the Board.
- (2) Applicants who have maintained an active psychologist license for fewer than 15 years must:
- (a) In addition to the materials in section (1) above, submit the following items before their application file will be reviewed for completeness:
- (A) Official doctoral degree transcript imprinted with the date the degree was awarded;
- (B) Documentation of completed post-doctoral supervised work experience; and
- (C) National written examination (EPPP) score report (if taken).
- (b) Applicants who have maintained an active psychologist license for 5 years or more must document that they have met the following requirements before the Board may issue a license:
- (A) Education requirements for licensure set forth in OAR 858-010-0010(1), (2), or (3);
- (B) A minimum of twelve months of post-doctoral supervised work experience as set forth in OAR 858-010-0036; and
- (C) A passing score on the national written examination (EPPP) as set forth in OAR 858-010-0025.
- (c) Applicants who have maintained an active psychologist license for fewer than five years must document that they have met the following requirements before the Board may issue a license:
- (A) Educational requirements for licensure set forth in OAR 858-010-0010(1) or (2);
- (B) A minimum of twelve months of post-doctoral supervised work experience, including at least 1,500 hours of psychological services, as set forth in OAR 858-010-0036; and
- (C) A passing score on the national written examination (EPPP) as set forth in OAR 858-010-0025.
- (3) All candidates for licensure must pass the Oregon Jurisprudence Examination as set forth in OAR 858-010-0030 before the Board will issue a license.
- (4) Primary source verification is required for application materials. The transcript, EPPP score, and supervised work experience documentation required in sections (1) and (2)(a) above is considered primary source verified when received by the Board directly from the following sources:
- (a) Supervisor Reference Form from the supervisor (or successor);
- (b) Transcript from the degree-granting institution;
- (c) File copy from the jurisdiction(s) in which the applicant is licensed;

- (d) CPQ file or credentials bank document(s) from ASPPB;
- (e) Certification file from ABPP; or
- (f) HSPP file from the National Register.

858-010-0018 Investigatory Powers

- (1) Additional Investigation. The Board shall not be limited in its investigation of an applicant's qualifications for licensure to the information supplied in the licensure application form and may direct additional investigation with respect to an applicant's qualifications prior to deciding whether or not the applicant is eligible to take the EPPP or the Jurisprudence examination or enter into a residency contract.
- (2) Record of Complaints. The Board shall review the Board's records of complaints and insert any reference to an applicant in the applicant's file.
- (3) State and National Databanks. The Board shall also make inquiry, if appropriate, of other state, national or foreign certification or licensure boards, the National Practitioner Databank (NPDB-NIPDB), the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards' Disciplinary Databank or Oregon Judicial Information Network (OJIN) for relevant information.

858-010-0019 Criminal Conviction Predeterminations

- (1) Prior to beginning an educational program for a license issued by the Board, a person who was convicted of a crime may petition the Board for a predetermination as to whether a criminal conviction will prevent the person from receiving a license issued by the Board.
- (2) Filing of Petitions. Petitioners must submit a complete petition for predetermination in a form and manner prescribed by the Board that includes:
- (a) A complete and signed petition form;
- (b) Petition fee listed in OAR 858-030-0005(6);
- (c) Copies of the following documents for each criminal conviction:
- (A) Arrest report(s);
- (B) Any charging document(s);
- (C) The final judgment of conviction;
- (D) Probation and parole records (if any);
- (E) Completion of court-ordered terms and conditions; and
- (F) A statement from the petitioner regarding the facts underlying the conviction, and any intervening circumstances.

- (3) If the records in (2)(c)(A)-(E) no longer exist, have been sealed, or are otherwise unavailable to a petitioner, then the petitioner may provide evidence from the agency that held the record as to why the record cannot be provided in lieu of the documents.
- (4) A petition is incomplete when it is missing one or more of the items required in subsection (2)-(3). An incomplete petition will expire 60 days from the date the petition form was submitted to the Board. Petitioners who allow their petition to expire must file a new complete petition to receive a predetermination.
- (5) Petitioners must disclose to the Board all previous criminal convictions. Failure to disclose includes any omission or misrepresentation of any material fact regarding a prior criminal conviction.
- (6) The Board will review a complete petition and make a predetermination that is not considered a final determination of the Board.
- (7) The Executive Director may make a predetermination on a petition under the same authority that the Board has delegated to the Executive Director to deny or approve applications.
- (8) The Board will reconsider its predetermination that a criminal conviction prevents a person from receiving a license if the petitioner subsequently submits a complete application for licensure to the Board. The Board may rescind a previous predetermination if the applicant:
- (a) Has allegations or charges pending in criminal court;
- (b) Failed to disclose a previous criminal conviction;
- (c) Has been convicted of another crime during the period between the predetermination and the applicant's submission of a completed application to the Board; or
- (d) Has been convicted of a crime that, during the period between the predetermination and the applicant's submission of a completed application to the Board, became subject to a change in state or federal law that prohibits licensure by the Board because of a conviction of that crime
- (9) Nothing in this rule prohibits the Board from denying licensure for a reason other than conviction of a crime.
- (10) The petition and the Board's determination are subject to Oregon's public records laws, and unless an exemption applies, the information in the petition and determination are subject to public disclosure.

858-010-0020 Process and Disposition of Application for License

(1) Application Review Procedure. When the application and all of the required supporting documents have been received, the application file shall be reviewed for eligibility. The reviewer shall either:

- (a) Approve the application. When the reviewer determines the application is complete, a letter of approval shall be sent notifying the applicant of eligibility to take the EPPP and the Jurisprudence examination and to enter into a Resident Supervision Contract.
- (b) Deny the application. If the application is denied, the reviewer shall send the applicant a letter stating the reason.
- (c) Board review. Under unusual circumstances, the application will be reviewed by the full Board for determination of disposition.
- (d) Incomplete Application. If the application is incomplete, the reviewer shall notify the applicant.
- (e) Request for Review. Applicants for licensure may request, in writing, that any decision by the reviewer be reconsidered by the Board.
- (2) Active Application Period.
- (a) An incomplete application is missing one or more of the items required under the applicable application procedure of OAR 858-010-0016 or 858-010-0017. The Board shall maintain an incomplete application file for one year from the date the application was received.
- (b) A complete application has been approved by the reviewer, but the candidate for licensure has not completed the remaining requirements for licensure: the post-degree supervised work experience, the EPPP, and/or the Oregon Jurisprudence Exam. The Board shall maintain a complete application file for two years from the date the application was approved.
- (c) A file shall be presumed inactive and archived if correspondence from the Board is returned by the post office for reasons other than post office error.
- (3) The Board may extend the active application period upon written request of the applicant, which must be received or postmarked prior to the expiration date. Failure to receive a courtesy reminder notice from the Board shall not relieve an applicant of the responsibility to timely request an extension.
- (4) Reapplication. If an application for licensure has been denied by the Board for any reason, the Board will not review a second application until at least one year has elapsed from the date of the previous denial.
- (5) Information Changes. An applicant must notify the Board immediately if any information submitted on the application changes, including but not limited to: name; address, email address, and telephone number; complaints; disciplinary actions; and, civil, criminal, or ethical charges and employment investigations which lead to termination or resignation. Failure to do so may be grounds for denial of the application or revocation of the license, once issued.
- (6) Applicants must not make omissions or false, misleading or deceptive statements on any Board application form. Failure to disclose an arrest or conviction is a violation of ORS

675.070(2)(d) and (f) and will result in a \$200 civil penalty for each violation. Applicants may also be subject to further disciplinary action by the Board.

858-010-0025 Procedure for National Written Examination

- (1) The Board shall utilize the Examination for Professional Practice in Psychology (EPPP) as the national written exam.
- (a) Candidates for licensure who are prepared to take the EPPP must submit a written request to the Board.
- (b) Candidates for licensure who have taken the EPPP prior to April 20, 1990, must have passed the examination by achieving a score at or above the national mean of doctoral candidates taking the examination for the first time on that day. Candidates who have taken the EPPP prior to April 1993 must have passed the examination by achieving a score at or above the national mean of doctoral candidates taking the examination for the first time on that day or 75 percent, whichever is lower. The passing score for the EPPP from April 1993 to April 2001 shall be 140 or 70 percent. For computer administered forms of the EPPP, the Board requires a scaled score of 500.
- (c) Special Accommodations. The Board shall review a request for special accommodations for a verified disability or for English as a second language upon written request by the candidate as described in OAR 858-010-0030(5).
- (2) Re-examination. Any candidate who fails to achieve a passing score on the EPPP shall be allowed to take the examination a second time. If the examination is failed twice, the candidate must submit a written study plan for the Board to review and approve. If a candidate fails to pass a third examination, the candidate's application for licensure shall be denied.

858-010-0030 Procedures for Oregon Jurisprudence Examination

- (1) Jurisprudence Examination. The purpose of the examination is to measure the candidate's knowledge and application of state laws and regulations related to the professional practice of psychology, including the American Psychological Association's ethical principles incorporated by Board statute and rule.
- (2) Eligibility. An exam candidate must obtain a passing exam score before the Board will issue a license.
- (a) Candidates for licensure whose education credentials, training and references have been accepted by the Board shall be notified in writing of their eligibility take the jurisprudence examination.
- (b) A candidate for licensure who was formerly licensed in Oregon must re-take and pass the examination if their application for licensure is received more than 2 years after their license expired.
- (c) A candidate for licensure must re-take and pass the examination if the candidate does not become licensed within 2 years of passing the exam.

- (3) Eligible candidates prepared to take the jurisprudence examination must pay the examination fee prior to taking the exam. The jurisprudence examination fee is not refundable except in extraordinary circumstances.
- (4) Special Accommodations. Requests for special accommodations for a disability or for English as a second language must be made at the time the written request to sit for the examination is made, or when the disability becomes known to the applicant. The request must include:
- (a) Disability: Written verification of the disability from a qualified care provider (i.e. a person certified or licensed by the state to provide such services) detailing:
- (A) Nature, extent and duration of disability; and
- (B) Recommendation(s) for accommodation.
- (b) English as a Second Language: Written request for reasonable accommodation detailing:
- (A) Level of proficiency in English including, but not limited to, number of years speaking and/or writing English;
- (B) History of special accommodations granted in similar testing circumstances;
- (C) Other information to support request for special accommodation; and
- (D) Recommendation(s) for accommodation.
- (5) Administration.
- (a) The Board shall determine the questions on each examination and shall determine the passing score.
- (b) The Board shall make available to exam candidates a Candidate Handbook that includes a copy of the Board's examination rules, procedures, Board requirements related to examination conduct, and current examination study materials.
- (c) Disqualification. An exam candidate may be disqualified during or after the examination for conduct which affects the integrity of the candidate's performance or the examination. Disqualification will result in denial of the candidate's application.
- (d) Exam candidates will be notified of their examination result.
- (6) Failure to Pass.
- (a) Review. A candidate who does not pass the examination may review the examination record of incorrect questions and answers at the Board's office within a period of ninety days following the date of the examination and upon written request to the Board. The purpose of the review is

to assist the candidate prepare to retake the examination. No more than one review shall be allowed.

- (b) Reexamination. A candidate who does not pass the examination may be reexamined following a mandatory waiting period of 30 days following each failure to allow the candidate to sufficiently prepare for a reexamination.
- (c) Study Plan. If a candidate does not pass the second examination and wishes to take a third examination, the candidate must submit a study plan for the Board's review and approval prior to sitting for the third examination.
- (d) Third Failure. If a candidate fails to pass the third examination, the candidate's application for licensure shall be denied.

858-010-0034 Criminal Background Checks

- (1) The purpose of this rule is to provide for the reasonable screening of licensees and applicants for licensure to determine if they have a history of criminal behavior and are not fit to hold a license that is issued by the Board.
- (2) The following persons ("subject individuals") must take the steps necessary to complete a nationwide criminal records check under ORS 181A.195:
- (a) All applicants for licensure; and
- (b) Licensees under investigation by the Board, when the Board has a rational reason to determine if the licensee has a history of criminal behavior.
- (3) To complete a criminal records check, each subject individual must:
- (a) Respond completely and truthfully to all of the Board's character and fitness questions;
- (b) Provide fingerprints pursuant to ORS 181A.170 (additional fingerprints may be required if the initial fingerprints are rejected);
- (c) Provide personal information necessary to obtain the criminal records check pursuant to OAR 125-007-0220; and
- (d) Pay to the Board the actual cost of acquiring and furnishing the criminal offender information.
- (4) Any original fingerprint cards will subsequently be destroyed in accordance with ORS 181A.195.
- (5) The Board will make a final fitness determination based on criminal offender information and any other pertinent information obtained by the Board, including any false statements or omissions made by the subject individual, and other factors pursuant to ORS 181A.195(10)(c) and OAR 125-007-0260 to 125-007-0270. The Board may make a fitness determination

conditional upon the subject individual's acceptance of probation, conditions, limitations, or other restrictions upon licensure.

- (6) If a subject individual refuses to consent to the criminal records check or refuses to be fingerprinted, the Board will deny the licensure application or revoke the license.
- (7) Criminal offender information is confidential and will not be disseminated by the Board except to persons with a demonstrated and legitimate need to know the information, including:
- (a) The Board will permit the subject individual to inspect their own state and national criminal offender records and, if requested, provide the subject individual with a copy of their own state and national criminal offender records.
- (b) Criminal records information may be used as exhibits during a contested case hearing process.
- (8) A subject individual may appeal an adverse final fitness determination pursuant to OAR 125-007-0300. Challenges to the accuracy or completeness of criminal records information must be made to the reporting agency and not to the Board or through the contested case process.
- (9) If the subject individual successfully contests the accuracy or completeness of criminal records information, the Board will conduct a new criminal records check and re-evaluate the fitness determination.

858-010-0036 Post-Doctoral Supervised Work Experience

- (1) Policy. One year of post-doctoral supervised work experience is required for licensure. The required work experience must take place after the doctorate degree is conferred.
- (a) One year of supervised work experience is defined as psychological services performed over a period not less than twelve months.
- (b) Psychological services are defined as direct psychological services to an individual or group; diagnosis and assessment; completing documentation related to services provided; client needs meetings and consultation; psychological testing; research related to client services; report writing; and receiving formal training including workshops and conferences.
- (c) For the purposes of licensure, psychological services do not include business development; credentialing activities; marketing; purchasing; creating forms; administrative billing or other business management activities.
- (d) A person with a doctoral degree in psychology who is employed at an "exempt site" pursuant to ORS 675.090(f) may practice psychology without a license for no more than 24 months from the time they begin practicing at an exempt site. The 24-month time limit does not restart if the person ceases practicing and then begins again, and does not reset if the person begins working at a different exempt site. The person may not use any title incorporating the word "psychologist."

- (2) The following shall be used by the Board to define supervised work experience.
- (a) Unless licensed under or exempted from ORS 675.010 to 675.150, in order to practice psychology in Oregon, a person must be in a Board approved Resident Supervision Contract.
- (A) Post-doctoral supervised work experience completed prior to August 1, 2018 under exemption from ORS 675.010 to 675.150 but not in a Board approved Resident Supervision Contract may qualify towards the one year of post-doctoral supervised work experience required for licensure.
- (B) Effective for post-doctoral supervised work experience completed in Oregon on or after August 1, 2018, the experience must be completed in a Board approved Resident Supervision Contract to qualify for licensure. Experience that is not completed under a Board approved Resident Supervision Contract shall not qualify towards the one year of post-doctoral supervised work experience required for licensure.
- (b) Work experience completed in Oregon must be performed under the supervision of an Oregon licensed psychologist who has been licensed for at least two years in Oregon or by a board that is a member jurisdiction of the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards based on a doctoral degree (or a combination thereof).
- (c) To receive supervised work experience credit from other jurisdictions, the experience must be a formal arrangement under the supervision of a psychologist who possesses an active license to practice psychology issued by a board that is a member jurisdiction of the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards based on a doctoral degree.
- (d) The supervisor is not required to be working on-site with the resident.
- (e) Frequency. Work experience completed in Oregon, or in another jurisdiction by an endorsement applicant licensed fewer than 5 years as described in OAR 858-010-0017(2)(c), must meet the following requirements:
- (A) If a resident works 1–20 hours in a week, the resident must receive at least one hour of individual one-on-one supervision during that week.
- (B) If a resident works more than 20 hours in a week, the resident must receive at least two hours of supervision during that week. One hour must be individual and one hour may be group supervision. Group supervision must be:
- (i) A formal and on-going group of at least three mental health professionals;
- (ii) Facilitated by a licensed psychologist; and
- (iii) Approved by the resident's supervisor.
- (C) On a non-routine basis, in the absence of the primary supervisor, individual one-on-one supervision hours may be delayed up to 14 days to accommodate vacations, illness, travel or inclement weather.

- (D) Individual and group supervision must be conducted:
- (i) In-person in a professional setting; or
- (ii) Through live, synchronous confidential electronic communications.
- (E) If a resident's work in a particular week does not comply with these requirements, then it may not be counted towards the supervised work experience requirement.
- (f) Duration. Work experience completed in Oregon, or in another jurisdiction by an endorsement applicant licensed fewer than 5 years as described in OAR 858-010-0017(2)(c), must include a minimum of 1,500 hours of supervised psychological services.
- (3) Candidates for licensure shall be eligible to enter into a Resident Supervision Contract as described in subsection (2)(a) of this rule.
- (a) The Board has discretion to approve or reject a proposed Resident Supervision Contract or to rescind a previously approved contract. Resident status shall begin the date the Board approves the Resident Supervision Contract.
- (b) Duration. The resident status is a transitional step toward licensure and is not intended as a means to avoid licensure. A Resident Supervision Contract shall be effective for a period not to exceed two years from the date of Board approval. The Board may extend the contract beyond two years for good cause upon a written request from the resident and the supervisor prior to the expiration of the contract. Failure to receive a courtesy reminder notice from the Board shall not relieve the resident of the responsibility to timely request an extension.
- (c) Termination of a Resident Supervision Contract will be granted by the Board at the written request of the supervisor or the resident. The termination shall be effective at the time the Board approves the request in writing, or on the date indicated by the supervisor in the final residency evaluation, whichever is later.
- (d) If the supervisor is to be paid for supervision payment must be in the form of a per-hour fee.
- (e) Supervision of more than three residents concurrently shall require prior approval by the Board.
- (4) Resident's Responsibilities. The resident's conduct must conform to the following standards:
- (a) Title. The resident must be designated at all times by the title "psychologist resident." All signed materials, letterhead, business cards, telephone directory listings, internet postings, brochures, insurance billing and any other public or private representation must include the individual's title as "psychologist resident" and the supervisor's name and designation "supervisor."
- (b) Scope of Practice. The resident will only offer services in those areas that the supervisor is competent.

- (c) Nature of Supervision. The resident must obtain frequent and regular supervision meetings throughout the duration of the Resident Supervision Contract. The resident must provide the supervisor with a periodic evaluation of all cases and psychological activities in which the resident is engaged. The resident's practice must comply with Oregon laws and administrative rules.
- (d) Confidentiality. The resident must advise all clients orally and in their informed consent policy that the supervisor may have access to all information and material relevant to the client's case.
- (e) Promptly communicate to the Board any significant interruption or expected termination of the Resident Supervision Contract.
- (f) The resident must discuss with their supervisor the Supervisor Evaluation Report at the conclusion or termination of the Resident Supervision Contract.
- (g) The resident must submit to the Board a Record of Supervised Hours form within 30 days of the conclusion or termination of the Resident Supervision Contract.
- (5) The supervisor's responsibilities are:
- (a) Review, supervise and evaluate representative and problem cases with attention to diagnostic evaluation, treatment planning, ongoing case management, emergency intervention, recordkeeping and termination;
- (b) Countersign all psychological reports and professional correspondence produced by the resident; and ensure that letterhead, business cards, telephone directory listings, internet postings, brochures, insurance billing and any other public or private representation includes the appropriate title of "psychologist resident" or "psychologist associate resident" and the supervisor's name and designation as "supervisor." Client progress notes do not need to be cosigned by the supervisor.
- (c) Review with the resident, Oregon laws and administrative rules related to the practice of psychology, including the current APA "Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct," professional relationships and referrals, protection of records, billing practices, recordkeeping and report writing;
- (d) Assist the psychologist resident in developing a plan to prepare for the national written exam and the Oregon jurisprudence examination;
- (e) Promptly communicate to the Board any professional or ethical concerns regarding the resident's conduct or performance;
- (f) Notify the Board within fourteen days and explain any significant interruption or expected termination of the Resident Supervision Contract;
- (g) Ensure that the resident has access to supervision by telephone to discuss urgent matters, if the supervisor is unavailable during a period not to exceed fourteen days;

- (h) Create and maintain for at least three years a record of hours of supervision and notes for each supervision session contemporaneously as supervision occurs, and provide it to the Board within fourteen days of request;
- (i) Provide the Board with an interim Resident Evaluation Report upon request; and
- (j) Provide the Board with a final Resident Evaluation Report within 30 days of the conclusion or termination of the Resident Supervision Contract.
- (6) Associate Supervisor. Any individual supervision of the resident by a person other than the primary supervisor must be identified in the Resident Contract and approved by the Board.
- (a) The associate supervisor is responsible for providing supervision as described in section (5) of this rule in the event that the primary supervisor is unavailable for any reason; and
- (b) The associate supervisor is responsible for reporting professional or ethical concerns regarding the resident's conduct or performance to the primary supervisor and the Board.

858-010-0038 Continued Supervision - Licensed Psychologist Associate

Before the initial license is issued, the psychologist associate and the supervising psychologist must submit a "Contract for Continued Supervision of a Licensed Psychologist Associate." Day-to-day supervision of the licensed psychologist associate is the responsibility of the supervisor and includes such face-to-face consultation as is required by the nature of the work of the psychologist associate, and is consistent with accepted professional practices in psychology.

858-010-0039 Application for Independent Status – Psychologist Associate

A licensed psychologist associate may apply to the Board for approval to function as an independent psychologist associate. Independent status will be granted only after at least three years of work as a licensed psychologist associate or a psychologist at a demonstrated high level of professional proficiency.

858-010-0041 License Renewals

- (1) Before the Board will renew a license or approve a request for active or semi-active status under ORS 675.110, a licensee must:
- (a) Submit a signed Renewal Notice and Affidavit attesting to meeting the continuing education requirements of OAR 858-040-0015 and reporting any history of felony convictions, pending criminal charges or history of discipline;
- (b) Pay the appropriate renewal fee;
- (c) Pay the delinquent fee (if any); and
- (d) Complete the required healthcare workforce data survey and pay the fee established by the Oregon Health Authority pursuant to ORS 676.410.

- (2) Semi-Active License.
- (a) Continuing education requirements shall be the same as for active licensees as described in OAR 858-040-0015.
- (b) Before the Board will approve a request for semi-active status a licensee must:
- (A) Be at least 62 years of age; and
- (B) Not engage in the practice of psychology as defined in ORS 675.020 for more than twenty client contact hours per week.
- (3) A Renewal Notice and Affidavit and the correct fee must be postmarked by the stated due date to be considered timely. Licensee holds the burden of proof of mailing.
- (4) Delinquent Fees.
- (a) A delinquent fee must be paid for a licenses renewed after the stated due date. The Board shall have discretion to waive this fee in documented hardship cases.
- (b) If license renewal and delinquent fees are not paid within 30 days immediately following the due date defined in section (3), the license shall lapse.
- (c) To renew a license that has lapsed for nonpayment of the renewal or delinquent fees, in addition to the requirements of section (1) above, an individual must:
- (A) Submit a completed Application for Reinstatement postmarked within sixty days of the stated due date on the Renewal Notice and Affidavit; and
- (B) Attest that the individual has not engaged in the unlicensed practice of psychology during the lapsed period; and
- (C) Pay the required fee.
- (5) Failure to receive a courtesy renewal reminder from the Board shall not relieve a licensee of renewal requirements and consequences.

858-010-0050 Inactive Status

- (1) Inactive status may be granted to licensees who have made a request in writing to the Board. Inactive licensees may not practice psychology in the State of Oregon, and are required to reactivate to active or semi-active status in order to practice.
- (2) To reactivate a license from inactive status to active or semi-active status, the licensee shall request in writing and report professional and continuing education activities sufficient to maintain professional competence, which must at a minimum meet the basic requirements for continuing education, as described in OAR 858-040-0015, within the 24 month period immediately preceding the date of request. The residual licensure fee and continuing education

requirements from the date of reactivation to the end of the renewal period shall be calculated on a prorated basis. If the licensee fails send the fee postmarked within 30 days immediately following the license reactivation, the license shall revert to inactive status.

- (3) Reactivation Request. If the written request to reactivate a licensee from inactive status to active or semi-active status occurs within five years the Board may, at its discretion, reactivate the license.
- (4) If the Board determines that the licensee has not engaged in professional and continuing education activities sufficient to maintain professional competence, or if the written request to reactivate the license is not received within five years, the licensee must re-take the Oregon jurisprudence examination and obtain a passing score.
- (5) If the inactive licensee does not pass the Oregon jurisprudence examination, the Board may require the submission of a study plan designed to correct deficiencies in the licensee's examination performance and/or require that the licensee establish a Board approved consultation relationship as described in OAR 858-010-0036, the duration of which may be specified by the Board.
- (6) The Board may reactivate the license upon receipt of documentation that the proposed study plan and/or period of consultation has been successfully completed and the deficiencies rectified, or at its discretion, may require the re-take and successful passing of the Oregon jurisprudence examination.

858-010-0055 Limited Permits

- (1) The Board may grant a limited permit to practice psychology in the State of Oregon to individuals who possess and have maintained an active license as a psychologist in another jurisdiction in good standing. Applicants must:
- (a) Submit an Visitor's Permit Application or a Temporary Permit Application;
- (b) Submit proof of licensure in good standing from other jurisdictions;
- (c) Pay the limited permit fee;
- (d) Submit a statement certifying that the applicant has read and understands Oregon law relating to the practice of psychology.
- (2) Limited Permit Types.
- (a) Visitor's Permit. A visitor's permit may be issued to psychologists that do not intend to seek full licensure in Oregon, and are providing psychological services for a limited, time-specific period only.
- (A) A statement of work must be submitted with the Visitor's Permit Application, and whenever the psychologist re-enters Oregon.
- (B) The statement of work must include purpose, location, and the specific dates of service.

- (C) A visitor's permit shall be effective for no more than 30 days in a 12 month period.
- (b) Temporary Permit. The Board may grant a temporary permit to an approved applicant for full licensure in Oregon.
- (A) Individuals applying for a temporary permit that do not have a minimum of five years of licensure must consult with an Oregon licensed psychologist at least one hour per week on matters pertaining to Oregon law. The consultant must agree and be named on the Limited Permit Application.
- (B) A temporary permit shall be effective for no more than 90 calendar days. Applicants granted a temporary permit must take the jurisprudence examination within 90 days from the date the permit is approved.
- (C) Failure to pass the jurisprudence examination shall result in cancellation of the temporary permit. The Board has discretion to extend the temporary permit for an additional 30 days in order to allow the applicant time to transition clients to another provider.
- (D) Applicants whose temporary permit is cancelled may submit a Consultation Contract for Board approval to continue providing services after the cancellation date.

858-010-0056 Temporary Practice Authorization

- (1) The Board may grant a temporary practice authorization to the spouse of a member of the Armed Forces of the United States who is stationed in Oregon as follows:
- (a) Temporary Psychologist Authorization may be issued to applicants that possess a current, active license to practice psychology in good standing in another state based on a doctoral degree in psychology.
- (b) To qualify for Temporary Practice Authorization, an applicant must be in good standing, with no restrictions or limitations upon, actions taken against, or investigation or disciplinary action pending against his or her license in any jurisdiction where the applicant is or has been licensed.
- (2) A Temporary Practice Authorization issued by the Board is not renewable, and is only valid until the earliest of the following:
- (a) Two years after the date of issuance;
- (b) The date the spouse of the person to whom the temporary practice authorization was issued completes the spouse's term of service in Oregon; or
- (c) The date the person's authorization issued by another state expires.
- (3) To apply for a Temporary Practice Authorization, an applicant must submit to the Board's office:
- (a) A complete Temporary Authorization Application;

- (b) A copy of the marriage certificate showing the name of the applicant and the name of the active duty member of the Armed Forces of the United States;
- (c) A copy of the assignment to a duty station located in Oregon by official active duty military order for the spouse named in the marriage certificate; and
- (d) The temporary practice authorization fee. This fee is not refundable except in extraordinary circumstances. An applicant's failure to qualify for temporary practice authorization does not suffice for a refund.
- (4) Information Changes. An applicant or person who has been granted a temporary practice authorization must notify the Board within 30 days if any information submitted on the application changes, including but not limited to:
- (a) Contact information;
- (b) Character and fitness information, including complaints, disciplinary actions, employment investigations that lead to termination or resignation, and civil, criminal, or ethical charges;
- (c) The status of the license to practice psychology in another state; and
- (d) The status of the spouse's term of service in Oregon.

858-010-0057 Servicemember Portability Licensure

- (1) The servicemember portability licensure method is for United States servicemembers and spouses or domestic partners of servicemembers who relocate their residence to Oregon because of military orders for military service in Oregon.
- (2) The following definitions apply to this rule:
- (a) "Armed forces" means the United States Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard.
- (b) "Military orders" means a servicemember's official military orders (including orders for separation or retirement), or any notification, certification, or verification from the servicemember's commanding officer, with respect to the servicemember's current or future military duty status.
- (c) "Scope of practice" means the defined parameters of various duties or services that may be provided by an individual under a license. A person licensed under this rule is subject to all laws and rules that apply to any other Oregon licensed psychologist.
- (d) "Servicemember" means a member of the armed forces, the commissioned corps of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, or the commissioned corps of the Public Health Service.

- (3) The Board may grant a psychologist license to applicants that possess a current psychologist license in good standing another state.
- (4) To be considered in good standing, an applicant must not:
- (a) Have been revoked or had discipline imposed by any state;
- (b) Have any pending investigation related to unprofessional conduct in any state; and
- (c) Have voluntarily surrendered a license while under investigation for unprofessional conduct in any state.
- (5) Notwithstanding OAR 858-010-0020, applicants under the servicemember portability method must submit the following in a form and manner prescribed by the Board:
- (a) A complete licensure application form;
- (b) Payment to the Board of the actual costs charged by the Oregon State Police and Federal Bureau of Investigation to complete a criminal history check as required by OAR 858-010-0034(3)(d);
- (c) Proof of military orders as described in Section (1);
- (d) For spouses or domestic partners of servicemembers: a copy of the evidence of marriage or domestic partnership (such as marriage certificate or domestic partnership registration) showing the name of the applicant and the name of the servicemember;
- (e) An official verification of each healthcare professional license, registration, or certification held, current or expired; and
- (f) A notarized affidavit affirming, under the penalty of law, that:
- (A) The applicant is the person described and identified in the application;
- (B) The applicant will maintain their qualifying active license in the other state for the duration of the military orders, including renewal of that license, if applicable;
- (C) All statements made in the application are true, correct, and complete;
- (D) The applicant has read and understands the licensure requirements and the scope of practice of an Oregon licensed psychologist;
- (E) The applicant meets and will comply with the requirements of Section (D), above; and
- (F) The applicant is in good standing in all states in which the applicant holds or has held a license.

- (6) A license issued under this rule is valid for the duration of the military orders and will expire based on the date the military order expires or is superseded as long as the qualifying license is maintained active and in good standing. A person licensed to practice under this rule is responsible for providing the Board with the military orders ending military service in Oregon or notifying the Board if any event occurs which disqualifies the person from eligibility, such as divorce from the servicemember or the servicemember's separation from military service.
- (7) A person licensed to practice under this rule must disclose to the Board any subsequent disciplinary action or investigation opened against any professional license in any state where they hold an active license, or any subsequent voluntary surrender of active professional license.
- (8) The Board may investigate and take disciplinary action as described in the Board's statutes or rules against a person authorized to practice under this rule for any reason that it may take disciplinary action against any other licensee.
- (9) A person authorized to practice under this rule who wishes to continue practicing in Oregon beyond the duration of their military orders must submit a new licensure application under the appropriate method in OAR 858-010-0016 or OAR 858-010-0017, qualify under all current licensing requirements, and satisfactorily complete the application process.

858-010-0060 Psychological Records

- (1) Maintenance and retention of records. The psychologist or psychologist associate, or person granted a limited permit or temporary practice authorization, who is rendering professional services to an individual client or services billed to a third party payer, shall maintain professional records for a client for a minimum of seven years from the date of last service. The records shall include:
- (a) The name of the client and other identifying information;
- (b) The presenting problem(s) or purpose or diagnosis;
- (c) The fee arrangement;
- (d) The date and substance of each billed or service-count contact or service;
- (e) Any test results or other evaluative results obtained and any basic test data from which they were derived;
- (f) Notation and results of formal consults with other providers;
- (g) A copy of all test or other evaluative reports prepared as part of the professional relationship;
- (h) Any releases executed by the client;
- (i) Any signed informed consents.

- (2) Disposition in case of death or incapacity of the licensee. Psychologists and psychologist associates shall make necessary arrangements for maintenance of and access to client records to ensure confidentiality in case of death or incapacity of the licensee.
- (3) Oregon licensees shall name a qualified person to intercede for client welfare and to make necessary referrals, when appropriate, and shall keep the Board notified of the name of the qualified person. The Board shall not release the name of the qualified person except in the case of the death or incapacity of the licensee or if the licensee is inactive or has resigned and the former client is unable to locate the licensee.
- (4) A "qualified person" under this rule means an active or semi-active Oregon licensed psychologist.
- (5) Failure to comply with any provision of this rule, or misrepresentation of compliance, constitutes unprofessional conduct per ORS 675.070(2)(d) and (h) and is grounds for disciplinary action.

858-010-0061 Notification Requirements

Licensees and persons granted a limited permit or temporary practice authorization shall:

- (1) Provide current contact information to the Board, including:
- (a) Public and mailing address;
- (b) Telephone number;
- (c) Electronic mail address; and
- (d) Any nickname or alternative personal name used by the individual.
- (2) Inform the Board of any changes to contact information within 30 days of the change using a contact information change form provided by the Board.
- (3) Submit a change of name form provided by the Board, accompanied by a copy of the legal document showing the name change, within 30 days of any name change.

858-010-0062 Designation of Education and Licensure Status

- (1) Psychologists licensed pursuant to ORS 675.030 or 675.050:
- (a) Must only designate their academic degree using appropriate initials including "Ph.D.," "Psy.D.," or "Ed.D." as awarded by the degree-granting institution.
- (b) Must only designate their licensure status as "psychologist" or "licensed psychologist." Inactive status licensees must only designate their licensure status as "inactive psychologist" or "inactive licensed psychologist."

- (2) Psychologist associates licensed pursuant to ORS 675.065:
- (a) Must only designate their academic degree using appropriate initials including "M.A." or "M.S." as awarded by the degree-granting institution.
- (b) Must only designate their licensure status as "psychologist associate" or "licensed psychologist associate." Inactive status licensees must only designate their licensure status as "inactive psychologist associate" or "inactive licensed psychologist associate."
- (3) The Board does not issue specialty licenses. Licensees must not use false designations such as "licensed clinical psychologist" or "licensed forensic psychologist associate" in reference to their Oregon license.

858-010-0065 Resignation of License Holder

- (1) A person holding a valid Oregon license to practice psychology may voluntarily resign their license by submitting a written resignation with the Board's Administrator.
- (2) Submission of a voluntary resignation shall not affect investigations or disciplinary actions.

858-010-0075 Code of Professional Conduct

The Board adopts the American Psychological Association's (APA) "Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct," effective January 1, 2010 with amendment as of January 1, 2017, as the code of professional conduct applicable to all licensees, persons granted a limited permit or temporary practice authorization, residents, and applicants of the Board.

[Publications referenced are available at http://www.apa.org/ethics/]

858-010-0300 Registered Health Care Interpreters

Licensees, residents, and individuals granted a limited permit or temporary practice authorization must comply with the provisions of ORS 413.559 and OAR 950-050-0010 related to working with health care interpreters.

858-010-0301 Access to Mental Health Assessment, Treatment, or Services

Licensees, residents, and temporary practitioners may not deny any individual access to mental health assessment, treatment or services on the basis that the individual also has an intellectual or developmental disability.

DIVISION 20 - COMPLAINTS, INVESTIGATIONS, AND CONTESTED CASE HEARINGS

858-020-0015 Management of Complaints

- (1) Consumer Protection Committee. The Board chair may appoint a Consumer Protection Committee comprised of one public member and two professional members. The Consumer Protection Committee shall:
- (a) Provide direction and consultation to the Board's investigator and the Board's Executive Director; and
- (b) Make recommendations to the Board when necessary.
- (2) Any Board member or Board staff member who has a conflict of interest with respect to any complaint shall declare the conflict and shall not participate in the investigation, disposition, or any other activity concerning the complaint.

858-020-0025 Complaints on Which the Board Can Act

Any complaint submitted to the Board must be specific as to the conduct upon which the complaint is based and why this conduct is cause for a complaint. The Board will review and accept for consideration complaints that might affect the licensure of psychologists and psychologist associates who are already licensed or are applicants for licensure, complaints concerning persons applying for or granted a limited permit or temporary practice authorization, or complaints that concern the possible practice of psychology by non-psychologists or unlicensed psychologists. A complaint concerning a licensed psychologist associate or psychologist resident may be regarded as a complaint against the supervisor. A complaint will be rejected if it does not allege a violation for which the Board has the grounds to impose sanctions pursuant to ORS 675.070. If authorized by ORS 676.160 to 676.180, a complaint may be referred to appropriate individuals or groups with the consent of the complainant.

858-020-0035 Form of Complaints

- ((1) If the complaint is first made in verbal form, is tentative, or undocumented, the Board may require a statement in writing, accompanied by documentation and/or submission of a complaint form. The Board will advise a complainant about the nature and form of documentation required.
- (2) The Board may initiate an investigation on its own action.
- (3) If the complainant is a client or former client of the respondent, the complainant must sign a waiver of confidentiality allowing the Board and its legal counsel access to records and other materials that are the ethical and legal responsibility of the respondent. Refusal by a complainant to comply with this requirement may result in dismissal of the complaint.
- (4) If a Board member becomes a complainant or a respondent, the same procedures will apply as in any other case. The Board member will abstain from any participation in discussion and deliberations of the Board regarding the complaint.

858-020-0045 Notice and Investigation Process

- (1) Notice to Respondent. The Board's Executive Director or designee shall notify the respondent by letter when a complaint is filed, or an investigation has been initiated, into respondent's conduct or practice. The notice letter shall provide respondent with a citation to the laws and regulations that apply to the investigation. The notice letter shall also set out the general allegations to be investigated. The investigator may modify the scope of the investigation as needed.
- (2) Notice to Supervisors. When a complaint is filed against an individual acting under the supervision of a licensed psychologist, the supervising psychologist(s) shall be notified that any investigation into the conduct of the supervisee may affect the licensure of the supervisor(s). The Board may open a companion investigation naming the supervisor(s).
- (3) Purpose of Investigation. The purpose of the investigation shall be to determine whether sufficient credible evidence exists of violation of rules or laws administered by the Board to justify issuance of a Notice of Intent to Impose sanctions against a respondent or such other action as the circumstances may warrant.
- (4) Scope of Investigation. The investigator shall seek guidance as appropriate and necessary from individual Board members, the full Board, agency legal counsel, and the Board's Executive Director. If the Board decides to operate with a Consumer Protection Committee structure, that committee shall serve as the primary source of guidance for the investigator.
- (5) Cooperation. Failure by respondent to cooperate with a board investigation constitutes unprofessional conduct per ORS 675.070(2), and is grounds for disciplinary action.
- (a) Cooperation by respondent includes:
- (A) Submitting client records to the Board's investigator, with or without a signed release by the client, for a full investigation of the allegations presented in the notice letter;
- (B) Sending a complete case file to the Board's investigator;
- (C) Being available for a personal interview with the Board's investigator; and
- (D) Responding truthfully and accurately to all questions presented by the Board's investigator.
- (b) To cooperate with an investigation, respondents may not:
- (A) Use threats or harassment to delay or obstruct any person in providing evidence in any investigation, contested case, or other legal action instituted by the Board;
- (B) Use threats or harassment to obstruct or delay the Board in carrying out its regulatory functions;
- (C) Deceive or attempt to deceive the Board with respect to any matter under investigation including altering or destroying any records;

- (D) Attempt to influence the testimony or participation in an investigation of any person believed to be a complainant or witness in a Board investigation, or to permit or encourage another person to do so; or
- (E) Engage in retaliation against another person for their participation in a Board investigation or provision of information to the Board.
- (6) Duty of the Investigator. The investigator shall collect evidence, interview witnesses and make a written report to the Board.
- (7) The Board may delay approving a licensure application, renewing a license, or issuing an initial license, limited permit, or temporary practice authorization if the person has a complaint under investigation until the complaint has been resolved.
- (8) Licensees, applicants, and persons granted a limited permit or temporary practice authorization must comply with the terms of all Board orders and agreements.
- (a) Failure to comply with one or more terms of a Board order or agreement constitutes a violation of ORS 675.070(2)(h) and is grounds for disciplinary action.
- (b) The Board will not approve any license renewal or request to reactivate a license from inactive status to active or semi-active status if the licensee is not in compliance with one or more terms of any Board order or agreement.

858-020-0055 Investigator's Report to the Board

- (1) When the investigation is complete, the investigator will make an investigation report to the Board, in accordance with the timeline and procedures outlined in ORS 183.310 to 183.500 and 676.160 to 676.180, and shall clearly set forth the issues on which the Board should consider possible action.
- (2) The Board shall consider the investigator's report and the standards for disciplinary actions under its statutes and OAR 858-010-0075. The Board may:
- (a) Dismiss the complaint;
- (b) Continue the investigation; or
- (c) Commence procedures for imposing sanctions.

858-020-0075 Contested Case Hearings

- (1) When the Board institutes disciplinary actions, notice of proposed actions must be served on the respondent(s) or the respondent's legal counsel by certified mail, return receipt.
- (2) The notice shall comply with ORS 183.411 to 183.497, and shall state that the respondent has the right to request a contested case hearing by filing an answer to the notice of disciplinary action and written request for hearing within 30 days of the mailing of the notice.

- (3) Failure to request a hearing within 30 days of the mailing of the notice of disciplinary action shall be deemed a default and a final order shall be issued by the Board.
- (4) A contested case hearing will be conducted by an impartial administrative law judge who has not been involved in the initial investigation of the complaint, in accordance with ORS 183.310-183.550 and the Board's Notice of Rights and Procedures.
- (5) Only the Board may order testimony be taken by deposition.
- (6) All hearings shall be conducted in Salem, Oregon, unless a different location is stipulated to by all parties and approved by the Board.
- (7) Contested case hearings are closed to the public.
- (8) The Board's disciplinary and suspension cases brought under ORS 675.070 are exempt from the requirements of OAR 137-003-0655(7), which requires an agency to give written notice to the administrative law judge and all parties of the date by which the agency expects to issue an amended proposed order or a final order if the agency will not issue an amended proposed order or final order within 90 days of the proposed order. Due to the complexity of Board cases and the infrequency of regularly scheduled Board meetings, 90 days is an insufficient time for the Board to issue an amended proposed order or a final order.

858-020-0085 Board Records

If the Board determines to take disciplinary action in accordance with ORS 675.070 to restrict, suspend, or revoke a license, notice to this effect will be published in a Board publication and published on the Board's website. Final disciplinary actions will also be reported to the National Practitioner Databank and the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards' Disciplinary Databank.

858-020-0105 Board's Responsibility to the Public

The Board may inform the public and the profession as to the ethics and nature of psychological activities, including the licensure law, what may constitute violations of the law, and how inquiry about possible violations or complaints may appropriately be made. The Board will refrain from any statement or action which might be construed as an official opinion or legal advice.

858-020-0115 Compliance with Governor's Executive Orders

- (1) During a Governor declared emergency, unprofessional conduct includes failing to comply with any applicable provision of a Governor's Executive Order or any provision of this rule.
- (2) Failing to comply as described in subsection (1) includes, but is not limited to:
- (a) Engaging in the practice of a profession required by an Executive Order to be closed;
- (b) Operating a business required by an Executive Order to be closed;

- (c) Failing to comply with the requirements of Oregon Health Authority (OHA) guidance implementing an Executive Order, including but not limited to:
- (A) Failing to screen clients in accordance with OHA guidance prior to providing services;
- (B) Failing to limit the number of individuals inside the premises or implement other protocols necessary to maintain physical distancing of six (6) feet;
- (C) Failing to implement OHA guidance on mask and face coverings; and
- (D) Failing to clean and disinfect in accordance with OHA guidance.
- (d) Failing to comply with any requirements of a Board of Psychology guidance implementing an Executive Order.
- (3) No disciplinary action or penalty action shall be taken under this rule if the Executive Order alleged to have been violated is not in effect at the time of the alleged violation.
- (4) The Board may impose sanctions for violations of this rule in accordance with ORS 675.070.

Note: Copies of the Governor's Executive Orders are available at: https://www.oregon.gov/gov/admin/Pages/executive-orders.aspx

Copies of Oregon Health Authority Guidance are available at: https://govstatus.egov.com/OR-OHA-COVID-19

858-020-0116 Compliance with the Oregon Health Authority's COVID-19 Requirements

- (1) The Oregon Health Authority (OHA) has adopted certain rules to control the communicable disease COVID-19. Unprofessional conduct includes failing to comply with any applicable provision of an OHA COVID-19-related rule or any provision of this rule.
- (2) Failing to comply as described in subsection (1) includes, but is not limited to:
- (a) Failing to comply with OHA's rules requiring masks, face coverings or face shields, including OAR 333-019-1011, OAR 333-019-1015, and OAR 333-019-1025, if applicable; and
- (b) Failing to comply with OHA's rules requiring vaccinations, including OAR 333-019-1010 and OAR 333-019-1030.
- (3) No disciplinary action or penalty action shall be taken under this rule if the rule alleged to have been violated is not in effect at the time of the alleged violation.
- (4) The Board may impose sanctions for violations of this rule in accordance with ORS 675.070.

DIVISION 30 - FEES

858-030-0005 Application, Examination and Licensing Fees

- (1) License application: \$325
- (2) Jurisprudence Examination: \$155
- (3) License Fees
- (a) Biennial license renewal fee, active psychologist and psychologist associate: \$600.
- (b) Biennial license renewal, semi-active psychologist and psychologist associate: \$300.
- (c) Biennial license renewal fee, inactive psychologist and psychologist associate: \$90.
- (d) The Board shall renew licenses on a biennial birth month renewal schedule.
- (e) The Board shall impose a delinquency fee of \$210 for licenses renewed within thirty days after the stated due date.
- (f) The Board shall have discretion to waive the delinquency fee in documented hardship cases.
- (4) Limited Permit: \$120
- (5) Temporary Practice Authorization: \$700
- (6) Petition for Licensure Predetermination: \$125
- (7) Miscellaneous Fees. Most materials and information are available through the Board website at www.oregon.gov/psychology or may be purchased in accordance with ORS 192.324.
- (a) Certified verification of licensure: \$5
- (b) Certified transfer of application information: \$20
- (c) Student loan deferment letter: \$5
- (d) Duplicating request: \$2.50 for the first five copies; \$.25 for each copy thereafter
- (e) Laws and administrative rules: \$5
- (f) Electronic file of mailing labels: \$35
- (g) Application packet, including laws and administrative rules: \$10
- (h) Duplicate wall display certificate of licensure: \$12

(i) Certified duplicate license: \$10

(j) Cumulative disciplinary report: \$7.50

DIVISION 40 - CONTINUING EDUCATION

858-040-0015 Basic Requirements

- (1) Licensees must earn at least 40 continuing education credits during the period between license renewals. Continuing education credit must be reported as follows:
- (a) Licensees must submit a Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavit to the Board office with the fee on or before the due date printed on the notice.
- (b) An unsigned or incomplete Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavit shall be returned to the licensee.
- (2) New Licensees. There is no continuing education reporting required for individuals licensed twelve months or less on their first renewal date.
- (3) All active and semi-active licensees must complete the following minimum requirements in each reporting period:
- (a) Four credits of professional ethics and/or Oregon State laws and regulations related to the practice of psychology;
- (b) One credit of continuing education dedicated to the topic of pain management. The one-hour web-based Pain Management Module provided by the Oregon Pain Management Commission satisfies this requirement;
- (c) Four credits of continuing education dedicated to the topic of cultural competency; and
- (d) Effective July 1, 2022: Two credits of continuing education dedicated to the topic of suicide risk assessment, treatment, and management.
- (4) No continuing education reporting is required for licensees requesting a change from active or semi-active to inactive status.
- (5) No continuing education reporting is required for inactive licensees.
- (6) The Board may grant exemptions in whole or in part from continuing education requirements, including extension of deadlines, in documented hardship cases.

858-040-0025 Continuing Education Reporting

- (1) Before a license will be renewed under ORS 675.110, a licensee must submit a Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavit.
- (2) A copy of the Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavit is available on the Board's website.
- (3) Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavits must be postmarked by the due date printed on the notice. Burden of proof of mailing is on the licensee.

858-040-0026 Continuing Education Random Audit

- (1) The Board will conduct a random audit of continuing education compliance each year. Audited licensees will be notified by letter and given 60 days to respond. Submissions must be postmarked by the stated due date to be considered timely. Licensee holds the burden of proof of mailing.
- (2) Unless the licensee is contacted for an audit, evidence of completion should not be sent to the Board, but must be retained by the licensee for two years after the reporting period.
- (3) To obtain credit during an audit, the following information must be typed or printed provided in legible form on the Board's Continuing Education Audit Report:
- (a) Activity title for multi-session or multi-day activities, titles of separate sessions attended;
- (b) Dates attended, including month, day, and year;
- (c) Organization sponsoring the program;
- (d) Full name and degree of qualified instructor or discussion leader;
- (e) Hours claimed according to OAR 858-040-0055.
- (f) To obtain credit for writing published articles and books, the following information must be provided on the Continuing Education Audit Report as follows:
- (A) Publisher;
- (B) Title of publication;
- (C) Dates of publication; and
- (D) Hours claimed according to OAR 858-040-0055.
- (4) If a licensee fails to provide adequate documentation or submits an incomplete Audit Report, the licensee shall be so notified and granted a period of 30 days to provide the missing information.

858-040-0035 Programs Which Qualify for Continuing Education Credit

Policy. Acceptable continuing education must be a learning activity which contributes directly to the professional competence of the licensee.

- (1) Program Prerequisites. Continuing Education programs shall qualify for credit if:
- (a) The subject matter deals primarily with substantive psychological issues, skills or Oregon laws, rules and ethical standards related to one's role as a psychologist or psychologist associate.

- (b) The program is conducted by a qualified instructor or discussion leader. A qualified instructor or discussion leader is a person whose background, training, education, or experience makes it appropriate for the person to make a presentation or lead a discussion on the subject matter; and
- (c) A record of attendance, such as a certificate of completion, is obtained.
- (2) Qualifying Programs. The following shall qualify for continuing education credit, provided that they comply with all other CE requirements:
- (a) Substantive professional development programs of recognized mental health organizations;
- (b) University or college courses taken at accredited universities and colleges. Each classroom hour shall equal one qualifying hour;
- (c) Formally organized work place educational programs;
- (d) Formally organized study groups that comply with the following;
- (A) At least two other mental health professionals attend;
- (B) The study group prepares and preserves a syllabus of meeting dates and study topics in advance;
- (C) A record is kept of each study group meeting. The record must include the names of the participants present, the subject matter and references which relate to any written material utilized; and
- (e) Home Study including internet and tele-courses.
- (f) Published articles and books authored or co-authored by the licensee.
- (g) Lecturer: Service as an instructor, discussion leader, or speaker.
- (A) Lecturer credit may be claimed for work that is either paid or unpaid.
- (B) Lecturer credit shall be allowed for the first time a course is taught. No credit shall be allowed for repeat presentations unless an instructor can demonstrate that the program content was substantially changed and such change required significant additional study or research.
- (h) Service as an Oregon Board of Psychology member or committee volunteer.
- (i) Ethics committee meetings of professional associations.
- (j) Formal trainings on office records organization, records maintenance and security procedures, or billing software instruction.
- (k) Reading books or articles from peer-reviewed journals (home study).

858-040-0036 Programs Which Do Not Qualify for Continuing Education Credit

- (1) Marketing; investments; and practice building strategies.
- (2) Yoga; therapeutic massage;
- (3) Non-Clinical administrative staff meetings;
- (4) Word processing computer skills;
- (5) Therapies which are not widely recognized as within the scope of practice of psychology, through research or scientifically demonstrated clinical effectiveness.
- (6) Programs that are completed to fulfil the terms of a Board order or agreement do not qualify towards the continuing education requirements for licensure renewal or reinstatement.

858-040-0055 Credit Hours Granted

- (1) Credit shall be given for actual hours attended.
- (2) Credit shall be given for no more than 20 hours of continuing education for home study and study group hours combined in each reporting period. This limitation is temporarily suspended for renewals that are due between March 31, 2020 and July 31, 2022.
- (3) An instructor, discussion leader, or speaker shall be given two hours of credit for preparation for each hour of presentation time, and one hour of credit for each hour of presentation time.
- (4) Credit shall be given for no more than 20 hours of continuing education for service as an instructor, discussion leader, or speaker and published material combined in each reporting period.
- (5) One hour of continuing education credit shall be given for reading 100 book pages or four peer-reviewed articles. Credit shall be given for no more than four hours (400 book pages or 16 articles) of reading in each reporting period. No more than two hours of reading may be used to fulfill the professional ethics continuing education requirement.

858-040-0065 Evidence of Completion

- (1) Evidence of completion must be retained by the licensee for a minimum of two years after the reporting period.
- (2) Responsibility for documenting the acceptability of the program and the validity of credit rests with the licensee.
- (3) The following shall constitute evidence of completion:
- (a) For academic credit: a copy of a transcript showing satisfactory completion of the course.

- (b) For professional development or workplace educational programs, formal trainings or home study activities: a certificate of attendance. A copy of a paid receipt showing licensee's name as the payor, along with a conference brochure, workshop flier or program schedule, may serve as evidence of completion for no more than eight hours of continuing education credit. Documentation must at minimum show the qualified instructor(s)'s name and degree, date, start and end time, and subject matter of the program.
- (c) For ethics committee meetings of professional organizations: meeting minutes showing the meeting date, ethics content, and licensee's name as a participating member.
- (d) For formally organized study groups: a copy of the study group meeting record.
- (e) For authoring published material or reading books or journal articles: a copy of pertinent pages of the material showing the article/chapter title (if applicable), book/journal name, author(s), and date of publication.
- (f) For lecturer credit: a copy of the course syllabus, conference brochure, workshop flier, program schedule or signed verification from the sponsor. Documentation must at minimum show the licensee's name as the lecturer, date, start and end time, and subject matter.

858-040-0070 Failure to Comply

- (1) A Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavit shall be deemed timely if it is postmarked by the stated due date of the reporting year. Burden of proof of mailing is on the licensee.
- (2) A licensee whose Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavit is not postmarked by stated due date shall pay a delinquent fee.
- (3) An individual whose license has lapsed for failure to submit a complete Renewal Notice and Reporting Affidavit and delinquent fee within 30 days after the due date must re-apply for licensure.
- (4) Failure to comply with any provision of OAR Chapter 858, Division 40, or misrepresentation of compliance, constitutes unprofessional conduct per ORS 675.070(2)(d) and (h) and is grounds for disciplinary action.
- (5) An individual whose license has been revoked for noncompliance of continuing education requirements must re-apply for licensure.
- (6) A licensee selected for the continuing education random audit who responds after the stated due date is subject to disciplinary action, to include but not limited to the following sanction:
- (a) Up to 30 days late: \$200 delinquent fee.
- (b) Up to 60 days late: \$300 delinquent fee.

- (c) Failure to respond after 60 days late: \$500 delinquent fee and the licensee's license will be suspended until the licensee provides a complete response documenting the licensee's compliance with the continuing education requirements.
- (7) A licensee selected for the continuing education random audit whose hours are deficient, including a licensee's failure to submit complete documentation, is subject to disciplinary action, to include but not limited to the following sanction:
- (a) Deficiency of 1 to 10 hours: \$250 fine.
- (b) Deficiency of 11 to 20 hours: \$500 fine.
- (c) Deficiency of 21 to 30 hours: \$750 fine.
- (d) Deficiency of 31 to 40 hours: \$1000 fine.
- (e) A licensee found to be deficient will be given 30 days to complete the deficient hours. Hours made up may not be double counted towards a subsequent reporting period.
- (A) If the licensee fails to complete the deficient hours within 30 days, an additional \$250 fine will be assessed, and licensee may be subject to further disciplinary action.
- (B) If the licensee fails to complete the deficient hours within 90 days, the licensee's license will be suspended for a minimum of 60 days.



2002 Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct

Amended June 1, 2010 & January 1, 2017

INTRODUCTION AND APPLICABILITY PREAMBLE

GENERAL PRINCIPLES

Principle A: Beneficence and Nonmaleficence

Principle B: Fidelity and Responsibility

Principle C: Integrity

Principle D: Justice

Principle E: Respect for People's Rights and

Dignity

ETHICAL STANDARDS

Standard 1: Resolving Ethical Issues

1.01 Misuse of Psychologists' Work

1.02 Conflicts Between Ethics and Law,

Regulations, or Other Governing Legal Authority

1.03 Conflicts Between Ethics and Organizational Demands

1.04 Informal Resolution of Ethical Violations

1.05 Reporting Ethical Violations

1.06 Cooperating With Ethics Committees

1.07 Improper Complaints

1.08 Unfair Discrimination Against Complainants and Respondents

Standard 2: Competence

2.01 Boundaries of Competence

2.02 Providing Services in Emergencies

2.03 Maintaining Competence

2.04 Bases for Scientific and Professional Judgments

2.05 Delegation of Work to Others

2.06 Personal Problems and Conflicts

Standard 3: Human Relations

3.01 Unfair Discrimination

3.02 Sexual Harassment

3.03 Other Harassment

3.04 Avoiding Harm

3.05 Multiple Relationships

3.06 Conflict of Interest

3.07 Third-Party Requests for Services

3.08 Exploitative Relationships

3.09 Cooperation With Other Professionals

3.10 Informed Consent

3.11 Psychological Services Delivered To or

Through Organizations

3.12 Interruption of Psychological Services

Standard 4: Privacy and Confidentiality

4.01 Maintaining Confidentiality

4.02 Discussing the Limits of Confidentiality

4.03 Recording

4.04 Minimizing Intrusions on Privacy

4.05 Disclosures

4.06 Consultations

4.07 Use of Confidential Information for Didactic or Other Purposes

<u>Standard 5: Advertising and Other Public</u> Statements

5.01 Avoidance of False or Deceptive Statements

5.02 Statements by Others

5.03 Descriptions of Workshops and Non-Degree-

Granting Educational Programs

5.04 Media Presentations

5.05 Testimonials

5.06 In-Person Solicitation

Standard 6: Record Keeping and Fees

6.01 Documentation of Professional and Scientific

Work and Maintenance of Records

6.02 Maintenance, Dissemination, and Disposal of Confidential Records of Professional and Scientific Work

6.03 Withholding Records for Nonpayment

6.04 Fees and Financial Arrangements

6.05 Barter With Clients/Patients

6.06 Accuracy in Reports to Payors and Funding Sources

6.07 Referrals and Fees

Standard 7: Education and Training

7.01 Design of Education and Training Programs

7.02 Descriptions of Education and Training

Programs

7.03 Accuracy in Teaching

7.04 Student Disclosure of Personal Information

7.05 Mandatory Individual or Group Therapy

7.06 Assessing Student and Supervisee

Performance

7.07 Sexual Relationships With Students and Supervisees

Standard 8: Research and Publication

8.01 Institutional Approval

8.02 Informed Consent to Research

8.03 Informed Consent for Recording Voices and Images in Research

8.04 Client/Patient, Student, and Subordinate Research Participants

8.05 Dispensing With Informed Consent for Research

8.06 Offering Inducements for Research Participation

8.07 Deception in Research

8.08 Debriefing

8.09 Humane Care and Use of Animals in Research

8.10 Reporting Research Results

8.11 Plagiarism

8.12 Publication Credit

8.13 Duplicate Publication of Data

8.14 Sharing Research Data for Verification

8.15 Reviewers

Standard 9: Assessment

9.01 Bases for Assessments

9.02 Use of Assessments

9.03 Informed Consent in Assessments

9.04 Release of Test Data

9.05 Test Construction

9.06 Interpreting Assessment Results

9.07 Assessment by Unqualified Persons

9.08 Obsolete Tests and Outdated Test Results

9.09 Test Scoring and Interpretation Services

9.10 Explaining Assessment Results

9.11 Maintaining Test Security

Standard 10: Therapy

10.01 Informed Consent to Therapy

10.02 Therapy Involving Couples or Families

10.03 Group Therapy

10.04 Providing Therapy to Those Served by Others

10.05 Sexual Intimacies With Current Therapy

Clients/Patients

10.06 Sexual Intimacies With Relatives or

Significant Others of Current Therapy

Clients/Patients

10.07 Therapy With Former Sexual Partners

10.08 Sexual Intimacies With Former Therapy

Clients/Patients

10.09 Interruption of Therapy

10.10 Terminating Therapy

HISTORY AND EFFECTIVE DATE

INTRODUCTION AND APPLICABILITY

The American Psychological Association's (APA's) Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct (hereinafter referred to as the Ethics Code) consists of an Introduction, a Preamble, five General Principles (A - E), and specific Ethical Standards. The Introduction discusses the intent, organization, procedural considerations, and scope of application of the Ethics Code. The Preamble and General Principles are aspirational goals to guide psychologists toward the highest ideals of psychology. Although the Preamble and General Principles are not themselves enforceable rules, they should be considered by psychologists in arriving at an ethical course of action. The Ethical Standards set forth enforceable rules for conduct as psychologists. Most of the Ethical Standards are written broadly, in order to apply to psychologists in varied roles, although the application of an Ethical Standard may vary depending on the context. The Ethical Standards are not exhaustive. The fact that a given conduct is not specifically addressed by an Ethical Standard does not mean that it is necessarily either ethical or unethical.

This Ethics Code applies only to psychologists' activities that are part of their scientific, educational, or professional roles as psychologists. Areas covered include but are not limited to the clinical, counseling, and school practice of psychology; research; teaching; supervision of trainees; public service; policy development; social intervention; development of assessment instruments; conducting assessments; educational counseling; organizational consulting; forensic activities; program design and evaluation; and administration. This Ethics Code applies to these activities across a variety of contexts, such as in person, postal, telephone, internet, and other electronic transmissions. These activities shall be distinguished from the purely private conduct of psychologists, which is not within the purview of the Ethics Code.

Membership in the APA commits members and student affiliates to comply with the standards of the APA Ethics Code and to the rules and procedures used to enforce them. Lack of awareness or misunderstanding of an Ethical Standard is not itself a defense to a charge of unethical conduct.

The procedures for filing, investigating, and resolving complaints of unethical conduct are described in the current Rules and Procedures of the APA Ethics Committee. APA may impose sanctions on its members for violations of the standards of the Ethics Code, including termination of APA membership, and may notify other bodies and individuals of its actions. Actions that violate the standards of the Ethics Code may also lead to the imposition of sanctions on psychologists or students whether or not they are APA members by bodies other than APA, including state psychological associations, other professional groups, psychology boards, other state or federal agencies, and payors for health services. In addition, APA may take action against a member after his or her conviction of a felony, expulsion or suspension from an affiliated state psychological association, or suspension or loss of licensure. When the sanction to be imposed by APA is less than expulsion, the 2001 Rules and Procedures do not guarantee an opportunity for an in-person hearing, but generally provide that complaints will be resolved only on the basis of a submitted record.

The Ethics Code is intended to provide guidance for psychologists and standards of professional conduct that can be applied by the APA and by other bodies that choose to adopt them. The Ethics Code is not intended to be a basis of civil liability. Whether a psychologist has violated the Ethics Code standards does not by itself determine whether the psychologist is legally liable in a court action, whether a contract is enforceable, or whether other legal consequences occur.

The modifiers used in some of the standards of this Ethics Code (e.g., reasonably, appropriate, potentially) are included in the standards when they would (1) allow professional judgment on the part of psychologists, (2) eliminate injustice or inequality that would occur without the modifier, (3) ensure applicability across the broad range of activities conducted by psychologists,

or (4) guard against a set of rigid rules that might be quickly outdated. As used in this Ethics Code, the term reasonable means the prevailing professional judgment of psychologists engaged in similar activities in similar circumstances, given the knowledge the psychologist had or should have had at the time.

In the process of making decisions regarding their professional behavior, psychologists must consider this Ethics Code in addition to applicable laws and psychology board regulations. In applying the Ethics Code to their professional work, psychologists may consider other materials and guidelines that have been adopted or endorsed by scientific and professional psychological organizations and the dictates of their own conscience, as well as consult with others within the field. If this Ethics Code establishes a higher standard of conduct than is required by law, psychologists must meet the higher ethical standard. If psychologists' ethical responsibilities conflict with law, regulations, or other governing legal authority, psychologists make known their commitment to this Ethics Code and take steps to resolve the conflict in a responsible manner in keeping with basic principles of human rights.

PREAMBLE

Psychologists are committed to increasing scientific and professional knowledge of behavior and people's understanding of themselves and others and to the use of such knowledge to improve the condition of individuals, organizations, and society. Psychologists respect and protect civil and human rights and the central importance of freedom of inquiry and expression in research, teaching, and publication. They strive to help the public in developing informed judgments and choices concerning human behavior. In doing so, they perform many roles, such as researcher, educator, diagnostician, therapist, supervisor, consultant, administrator, social interventionist, and expert witness. This Ethics Code provides a common set of principles and standards upon which psychologists build their professional and scientific work.

This Ethics Code is intended to provide specific standards to cover most situations encountered by psychologists. It has as its goals the welfare and protection of the individuals and groups with whom psychologists work and the education of members, students, and the public regarding ethical standards of the discipline.

The development of a dynamic set of ethical standards for psychologists' work-related conduct requires a personal commitment and lifelong effort to act ethically; to encourage ethical behavior by students, supervisees, employees, and colleagues; and to consult with others concerning ethical problems.

GENERAL PRINCIPLES

This section consists of General Principles. General Principles, as opposed to Ethical Standards, are aspirational in nature. Their intent is to guide and inspire psychologists toward the very highest ethical ideals of the profession. General Principles, in contrast to Ethical Standards, do not represent obligations and should not form the basis for imposing sanctions. Relying upon General Principles for either of these reasons distorts both their meaning and purpose.

Principle A: Beneficence and Nonmaleficence

Psychologists strive to benefit those with whom they work and take care to do no harm. In their professional actions, psychologists seek to safeguard the welfare and rights of those with whom they interact professionally and other affected persons, and the welfare of animal subjects of research. When conflicts occur among psychologists' obligations or concerns, they attempt to resolve these conflicts in a responsible fashion that avoids or minimizes harm. Because psychologists' scientific and professional judgments and actions may affect the lives of others,

they are alert to and guard against personal, financial, social, organizational, or political factors that might lead to misuse of their influence. Psychologists strive to be aware of the possible effect of their own physical and mental health on their ability to help those with whom they work.

Principle B: Fidelity and Responsibility

Psychologists establish relationships of trust with those with whom they work. They are aware of their professional and scientific responsibilities to society and to the specific communities in which they work. Psychologists uphold professional standards of conduct, clarify their professional roles and obligations, accept appropriate responsibility for their behavior, and seek to manage conflicts of interest that could lead to exploitation or harm. Psychologists consult with, refer to, or cooperate with other professionals and institutions to the extent needed to serve the best interests of those with whom they work. They are concerned about the ethical compliance of their colleagues' scientific and professional conduct. Psychologists strive to contribute a portion of their professional time for little or no compensation or personal advantage.

Principle C: Integrity

Psychologists seek to promote accuracy, honesty, and truthfulness in the science, teaching, and practice of psychology. In these activities psychologists do not steal, cheat, or engage in fraud, subterfuge, or intentional misrepresentation of fact. Psychologists strive to keep their promises and to avoid unwise or unclear commitments. In situations in which deception may be ethically justifiable to maximize benefits and minimize harm, psychologists have a serious obligation to consider the need for, the possible consequences of, and their responsibility to correct any resulting mistrust or other harmful effects that arise from the use of such techniques.

Principle D: Justice

Psychologists recognize that fairness and justice entitle all persons to access to and benefit from the contributions of psychology and to equal quality in the processes, procedures, and services being conducted by psychologists. Psychologists exercise reasonable judgment and take precautions to ensure that their potential biases, the boundaries of their competence, and the limitations of their expertise do not lead to or condone unjust practices.

Principle E: Respect for People's Rights and Dignity

Psychologists respect the dignity and worth of all people, and the rights of individuals to privacy, confidentiality, and self-determination. Psychologists are aware that special safeguards may be necessary to protect the rights and welfare of persons or communities whose vulnerabilities impair autonomous decision making. Psychologists are aware of and respect cultural, individual, and role differences, including those based on age, gender, gender identity, race, ethnicity, culture, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, disability, language, and socioeconomic status and consider these factors when working with members of such groups. Psychologists try to eliminate the effect on their work of biases based on those factors, and they do not knowingly participate in or condone activities of others based upon such prejudices.

ETHICAL STANDARDS

Section 1: Resolving Ethical Issues

1.01 Misuse of Psychologists' Work

If psychologists learn of misuse or misrepresentation of their work, they take reasonable steps to correct or minimize the misuse or misrepresentation.

1.02 Conflicts Between Ethics and Law, Regulations, or Other Governing Legal Authority If psychologists' ethical responsibilities conflict with law, regulations, or other governing legal authority, psychologists clarify the nature of the conflict, make known their commitment to the Ethics Code and take reasonable steps to resolve the conflict consistent with the General Principles and Ethical Standards of the Ethics Code. Under no circumstances may this standard be used to justify or defend violating human rights.

1.03 Conflicts Between Ethics and Organizational Demands

If the demands of an organization with which psychologists are affiliated or for whom they are working are in conflict with this Ethics Code, psychologists clarify the nature of the conflict, make known their commitment to the Ethics Code, and take reasonable steps to resolve the conflict consistent with the General Principles and Ethical Standards of the Ethics Code. Under no circumstances may this standard be used to justify or defend violating human rights.

1.04 Informal Resolution of Ethical Violations

When psychologists believe that there may have been an ethical violation by another psychologist, they attempt to resolve the issue by bringing it to the attention of that individual, if an informal resolution appears appropriate and the intervention does not violate any confidentiality rights that may be involved. (See also Standards 1.02, Conflicts Between Ethics and Law, Regulations, or Other Governing Legal Authority, and 1.03, Conflicts Between Ethics and Organizational Demands.)

1.05 Reporting Ethical Violations

If an apparent ethical violation has substantially harmed or is likely to substantially harm a person or organization and is not appropriate for informal resolution under Standard 1.04, Informal Resolution of Ethical Violations, or is not resolved properly in that fashion, psychologists take further action appropriate to the situation. Such action might include referral to state or national committees on professional ethics, to state licensing boards, or to the appropriate institutional authorities. This standard does not apply when an intervention would violate confidentiality rights or when psychologists have been retained to review the work of another psychologist whose professional conduct is in question. (See also Standard 1.02, Conflicts Between Ethics and Law, Regulations, or Other Governing Legal Authority.)

1.06 Cooperating With Ethics Committees

Psychologists cooperate in ethics investigations, proceedings, and resulting requirements of the APA or any affiliated state psychological association to which they belong. In doing so, they address any confidentiality issues. Failure to cooperate is itself an ethics violation. However, making a request for deferment of adjudication of an ethics complaint pending the outcome of litigation does not alone constitute noncooperation.

1.07 Improper Complaints

Psychologists do not file or encourage the filing of ethics complaints that are made with reckless disregard for or willful ignorance of facts that would disprove the allegation.

1.08 Unfair Discrimination Against Complainants and Respondents

Psychologists do not deny persons employment, advancement, admissions to academic or other

programs, tenure, or promotion, based solely upon their having made or their being the subject of an ethics complaint. This does not preclude taking action based upon the outcome of such proceedings or considering other appropriate information.

Section 2: Competence

2.01 Boundaries of Competence

- (a) Psychologists provide services, teach, and conduct research with populations and in areas only within the boundaries of their competence, based on their education, training, supervised experience, consultation, study, or professional experience.
- (b) Where scientific or professional knowledge in the discipline of psychology establishes that an understanding of factors associated with age, gender, gender identity, race, ethnicity, culture, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, disability, language, or socioeconomic status is essential for effective implementation of their services or research, psychologists have or obtain the training, experience, consultation, or supervision necessary to ensure the competence of their services, or they make appropriate referrals, except as provided in Standard 2.02, Providing Services in Emergencies.
- (c) Psychologists planning to provide services, teach, or conduct research involving populations, areas, techniques, or technologies new to them undertake relevant education, training, supervised experience, consultation, or study.
- (d) When psychologists are asked to provide services to individuals for whom appropriate mental health services are not available and for which psychologists have not obtained the competence necessary, psychologists with closely related prior training or experience may provide such services in order to ensure that services are not denied if they make a reasonable effort to obtain the competence required by using relevant research, training, consultation, or study.
- (e) In those emerging areas in which generally recognized standards for preparatory training do not yet exist, psychologists nevertheless take reasonable steps to ensure the competence of their work and to protect clients/patients, students, supervisees, research participants, organizational clients, and others from harm.
- (f) When assuming forensic roles, psychologists are or become reasonably familiar with the judicial or administrative rules governing their roles.

2.02 Providing Services in Emergencies

In emergencies, when psychologists provide services to individuals for whom other mental health services are not available and for which psychologists have not obtained the necessary training, psychologists may provide such services in order to ensure that services are not denied. The services are discontinued as soon as the emergency has ended or appropriate services are available.

2.03 Maintaining Competence

Psychologists undertake ongoing efforts to develop and maintain their competence.

2.04 Bases for Scientific and Professional Judgments

Psychologists' work is based upon established scientific and professional knowledge of the discipline. (See also Standards 2.01e, Boundaries of Competence, and 10.01b, Informed Consent to Therapy.)

2.05 Delegation of Work to Others

Psychologists who delegate work to employees, supervisees, or research or teaching assistants or who use the services of others, such as interpreters, take reasonable steps to (1) avoid delegating

such work to persons who have a multiple relationship with those being served that would likely lead to exploitation or loss of objectivity; (2) authorize only those responsibilities that such persons can be expected to perform competently on the basis of their education, training, or experience, either independently or with the level of supervision being provided; and (3) see that such persons perform these services competently. (See also Standards 2.02, Providing Services in Emergencies; 3.05, Multiple Relationships; 4.01, Maintaining Confidentiality; 9.01, Bases for Assessments; 9.02, Use of Assessments; 9.03, Informed Consent in Assessments; and 9.07, Assessment by Unqualified Persons.)

2.06 Personal Problems and Conflicts

- (a) Psychologists refrain from initiating an activity when they know or should know that there is a substantial likelihood that their personal problems will prevent them from performing their work-related activities in a competent manner.
- (b) When psychologists become aware of personal problems that may interfere with their performing work-related duties adequately, they take appropriate measures, such as obtaining professional consultation or assistance, and determine whether they should limit, suspend, or terminate their work-related duties. (See also Standard 10.10, Terminating Therapy.)

Section 3: Human Relations

3.01 Unfair Discrimination

In their work-related activities, psychologists do not engage in unfair discrimination based on age, gender, gender identity, race, ethnicity, culture, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, disability, socioeconomic status, or any basis proscribed by law.

3.02 Sexual Harassment

Psychologists do not engage in sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is sexual solicitation, physical advances, or verbal or nonverbal conduct that is sexual in nature, that occurs in connection with the psychologist's activities or roles as a psychologist, and that either (1) is unwelcome, is offensive, or creates a hostile workplace or educational environment, and the psychologist knows or is told this or (2) is sufficiently severe or intense to be abusive to a reasonable person in the context. Sexual harassment can consist of a single intense or severe act or of multiple persistent or pervasive acts. (See also Standard 1.08, Unfair Discrimination Against Complainants and Respondents.)

3.03 Other Harassment

Psychologists do not knowingly engage in behavior that is harassing or demeaning to persons with whom they interact in their work based on factors such as those persons' age, gender, gender identity, race, ethnicity, culture, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, disability, language, or socioeconomic status.

3.04 Avoiding Harm

- (a) Psychologists take reasonable steps to avoid harming their clients/patients, students, supervisees, research participants, organizational clients, and others with whom they work, and to minimize harm where it is foreseeable and unavoidable.
- b) Psychologists do not participate in, facilitate, assist, or otherwise engage in torture, defined as any act by which severe pain or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person, or in any other cruel, inhuman, or degrading behavior that violates 3.04(a).

3.05 Multiple Relationships

- (a) A multiple relationship occurs when a psychologist is in a professional role with a person and
- (1) at the same time is in another role with the same person, (2) at the same time is in a

relationship with a person closely associated with or related to the person with whom the psychologist has the professional relationship, or (3) promises to enter into another relationship in the future with the person or a person closely associated with or related to the person.

A psychologist refrains from entering into a multiple relationship if the multiple relationship could reasonably be expected to impair the psychologist's objectivity, competence, or effectiveness in performing his or her functions as a psychologist, or otherwise risks exploitation or harm to the person with whom the professional relationship exists.

Multiple relationships that would not reasonably be expected to cause impairment or risk exploitation or harm are not unethical.

- (b) If a psychologist finds that, due to unforeseen factors, a potentially harmful multiple relationship has arisen, the psychologist takes reasonable steps to resolve it with due regard for the best interests of the affected person and maximal compliance with the Ethics Code.
- (c) When psychologists are required by law, institutional policy, or extraordinary circumstances to serve in more than one role in judicial or administrative proceedings, at the outset they clarify role expectations and the extent of confidentiality and thereafter as changes occur. (See also Standards 3.04, Avoiding Harm, and 3.07, Third-Party Requests for Services.)

3.06 Conflict of Interest

Psychologists refrain from taking on a professional role when personal, scientific, professional, legal, financial, or other interests or relationships could reasonably be expected to (1) impair their objectivity, competence, or effectiveness in performing their functions as psychologists or (2) expose the person or organization with whom the professional relationship exists to harm or exploitation.

3.07 Third-Party Requests for Services

When psychologists agree to provide services to a person or entity at the request of a third party, psychologists attempt to clarify at the outset of the service the nature of the relationship with all individuals or organizations involved. This clarification includes the role of the psychologist (e.g., therapist, consultant, diagnostician, or expert witness), an identification of who is the client, the probable uses of the services provided or the information obtained, and the fact that there may be limits to confidentiality. (See also Standards 3.05, Multiple Relationships, and 4.02, Discussing the Limits of Confidentiality.)

3.08 Exploitative Relationships

Psychologists do not exploit persons over whom they have supervisory, evaluative, or other authority such as clients/patients, students, supervisees, research participants, and employees. (See also Standards 3.05, Multiple Relationships; 6.04, Fees and Financial Arrangements; 6.05, Barter With Clients/Patients; 7.07, Sexual Relationships With Students and Supervisees; 10.05, Sexual Intimacies With Current Therapy Clients/Patients; 10.06, Sexual Intimacies With Relatives or Significant Others of Current Therapy Clients/Patients; 10.07, Therapy With Former Sexual Partners; and 10.08, Sexual Intimacies With Former Therapy Clients/Patients.)

3.09 Cooperation With Other Professionals

When indicated and professionally appropriate, psychologists cooperate with other professionals in order to serve their clients/patients effectively and appropriately. (See also Standard 4.05, Disclosures.)

3.10 Informed Consent

(a) When psychologists conduct research or provide assessment, therapy, counseling, or consulting services in person or via electronic transmission or other forms of communication, they obtain the informed consent of the individual or individuals using language that is

reasonably understandable to that person or persons except when conducting such activities without consent is mandated by law or governmental regulation or as otherwise provided in this Ethics Code. (See also Standards 8.02, Informed Consent to Research; 9.03, Informed Consent in Assessments; and 10.01, Informed Consent to Therapy.)

- (b) For persons who are legally incapable of giving informed consent, psychologists nevertheless (1) provide an appropriate explanation, (2) seek the individual's assent, (3) consider such persons' preferences and best interests, and (4) obtain appropriate permission from a legally authorized person, if such substitute consent is permitted or required by law. When consent by a legally authorized person is not permitted or required by law, psychologists take reasonable steps to protect the individual's rights and welfare.
- (c) When psychological services are court ordered or otherwise mandated, psychologists inform the individual of the nature of the anticipated services, including whether the services are court ordered or mandated and any limits of confidentiality, before proceeding.
- (d) Psychologists appropriately document written or oral consent, permission, and assent. (See also Standards 8.02, Informed Consent to Research; 9.03, Informed Consent in Assessments; and 10.01, Informed Consent to Therapy.)

3.11 Psychological Services Delivered To or Through Organizations

- (a) Psychologists delivering services to or through organizations provide information beforehand to clients and when appropriate those directly affected by the services about (1) the nature and objectives of the services, (2) the intended recipients, (3) which of the individuals are clients, (4) the relationship the psychologist will have with each person and the organization, (5) the probable uses of services provided and information obtained, (6) who will have access to the information, and (7) limits of confidentiality. As soon as feasible, they provide information about the results and conclusions of such services to appropriate persons.
- (b) If psychologists will be precluded by law or by organizational roles from providing such information to particular individuals or groups, they so inform those individuals or groups at the outset of the service.

3.12 Interruption of Psychological Services

Unless otherwise covered by contract, psychologists make reasonable efforts to plan for facilitating services in the event that psychological services are interrupted by factors such as the psychologist's illness, death, unavailability, relocation, or retirement or by the client's/patient's relocation or financial limitations. (See also Standard 6.02c, Maintenance, Dissemination, and Disposal of Confidential Records of Professional and Scientific Work.)

Section 4: Privacy and Confidentiality

4.01 Maintaining Confidentiality

Psychologists have a primary obligation and take reasonable precautions to protect confidential information obtained through or stored in any medium, recognizing that the extent and limits of confidentiality may be regulated by law or established by institutional rules or professional or scientific relationship. (See also Standard 2.05, Delegation of Work to Others.)

4.02 Discussing the Limits of Confidentiality

(a) Psychologists discuss with persons (including, to the extent feasible, persons who are legally incapable of giving informed consent and their legal representatives) and organizations with whom they establish a scientific or professional relationship (1) the relevant limits of confidentiality and (2) the foreseeable uses of the information generated through their psychological activities. (See also Standard 3.10, Informed Consent.)

- (b) Unless it is not feasible or is contraindicated, the discussion of confidentiality occurs at the outset of the relationship and thereafter as new circumstances may warrant.
- (c) Psychologists who offer services, products, or information via electronic transmission inform clients/patients of the risks to privacy and limits of confidentiality.

4.03 Recording

Before recording the voices or images of individuals to whom they provide services, psychologists obtain permission from all such persons or their legal representatives. (See also Standards 8.03, Informed Consent for Recording Voices and Images in Research; 8.05, Dispensing With Informed Consent for Research; and 8.07, Deception in Research.)

4.04 Minimizing Intrusions on Privacy

- (a) Psychologists include in written and oral reports and consultations, only information germane to the purpose for which the communication is made.
- (b) Psychologists discuss confidential information obtained in their work only for appropriate scientific or professional purposes and only with persons clearly concerned with such matters.

4.05 Disclosures

- (a) Psychologists may disclose confidential information with the appropriate consent of the organizational client, the individual client/patient, or another legally authorized person on behalf of the client/patient unless prohibited by law.
- (b) Psychologists disclose confidential information without the consent of the individual only as mandated by law, or where permitted by law for a valid purpose such as to (1) provide needed professional services; (2) obtain appropriate professional consultations; (3) protect the client/patient, psychologist, or others from harm; or (4) obtain payment for services from a client/patient, in which instance disclosure is limited to the minimum that is necessary to achieve the purpose. (See also Standard 6.04e, Fees and Financial Arrangements.)

4.06 Consultations

When consulting with colleagues, (1) psychologists do not disclose confidential information that reasonably could lead to the identification of a client/patient, research participant, or other person or organization with whom they have a confidential relationship unless they have obtained the prior consent of the person or organization or the disclosure cannot be avoided, and (2) they disclose information only to the extent necessary to achieve the purposes of the consultation. (See also Standard 4.01, Maintaining Confidentiality.)

4.07 Use of Confidential Information for Didactic or Other Purposes

Psychologists do not disclose in their writings, lectures, or other public media, confidential, personally identifiable information concerning their clients/patients, students, research participants, organizational clients, or other recipients of their services that they obtained during the course of their work, unless (1) they take reasonable steps to disguise the person or organization, (2) the person or organization has consented in writing, or (3) there is legal authorization for doing so.

Section 5: Advertising and Other Public Statements

5.01 Avoidance of False or Deceptive Statements

(a) Public statements include but are not limited to paid or unpaid advertising, product endorsements, grant applications, licensing applications, other credentialing applications, brochures, printed matter, directory listings, personal resumes or curricula vitae, or comments for use in media such as print or electronic transmission, statements in legal proceedings, lectures and public oral presentations, and published materials. Psychologists do not knowingly make

public statements that are false, deceptive, or fraudulent concerning their research, practice, or other work activities or those of persons or organizations with which they are affiliated.

- (b) Psychologists do not make false, deceptive, or fraudulent statements concerning (1) their training, experience, or competence; (2) their academic degrees; (3) their credentials; (4) their institutional or association affiliations; (5) their services; (6) the scientific or clinical basis for, or results or degree of success of, their services; (7) their fees; or (8) their publications or research findings.
- (c) Psychologists claim degrees as credentials for their health services only if those degrees (1) were earned from a regionally accredited educational institution or (2) were the basis for psychology licensure by the state in which they practice.

5.02 Statements by Others

- (a) Psychologists who engage others to create or place public statements that promote their professional practice, products, or activities retain professional responsibility for such statements.
- (b) Psychologists do not compensate employees of press, radio, television, or other communication media in return for publicity in a news item. (See also Standard 1.01, Misuse of Psychologists' Work.)
- (c) A paid advertisement relating to psychologists' activities must be identified or clearly recognizable as such.

5.03 Descriptions of Workshops and Non-Degree-Granting Educational Programs

To the degree to which they exercise control, psychologists responsible for announcements, catalogs, brochures, or advertisements describing workshops, seminars, or other non-degree-granting educational programs ensure that they accurately describe the audience for which the program is intended, the educational objectives, the presenters, and the fees involved.

5.04 Media Presentations

When psychologists provide public advice or comment via print, Internet, or other electronic transmission, they take precautions to ensure that statements (1) are based on their professional knowledge, training, or experience in accord with appropriate psychological literature and practice; (2) are otherwise consistent with this Ethics Code; and (3) do not indicate that a professional relationship has been established with the recipient. (See also Standard 2.04, Bases for Scientific and Professional Judgments.)

5.05 Testimonials

Psychologists do not solicit testimonials from current therapy clients/patients or other persons who because of their particular circumstances are vulnerable to undue influence.

5.06 In-Person Solicitation

Psychologists do not engage, directly or through agents, in uninvited in-person solicitation of business from actual or potential therapy clients/patients or other persons who because of their particular circumstances are vulnerable to undue influence. However, this prohibition does not preclude (1) attempting to implement appropriate collateral contacts for the purpose of benefiting an already engaged therapy client/patient or (2) providing disaster or community outreach services.

Section 6: Record Keeping and Fees

6.01 Documentation of Professional and Scientific Work and Maintenance of RecordsPsychologists create, and to the extent the records are under their control, maintain, disseminate,

store, retain, and dispose of records and data relating to their professional and scientific work in order to (1) facilitate provision of services later by them or by other professionals, (2) allow for replication of research design and analyses, (3) meet institutional requirements, (4) ensure accuracy of billing and payments, and (5) ensure compliance with law. (See also Standard 4.01, Maintaining Confidentiality.)

6.02 Maintenance, Dissemination, and Disposal of Confidential Records of Professional and Scientific Work

- (a) Psychologists maintain confidentiality in creating, storing, accessing, transferring, and disposing of records under their control, whether these are written, automated, or in any other medium. (See also Standards 4.01, Maintaining Confidentiality, and 6.01, Documentation of Professional and Scientific Work and Maintenance of Records.)
- (b) If confidential information concerning recipients of psychological services is entered into databases or systems of records available to persons whose access has not been consented to by the recipient, psychologists use coding or other techniques to avoid the inclusion of personal identifiers.
- (c) Psychologists make plans in advance to facilitate the appropriate transfer and to protect the confidentiality of records and data in the event of psychologists' withdrawal from positions or practice. (See also Standards 3.12, Interruption of Psychological Services, and 10.09, Interruption of Therapy.)

6.03 Withholding Records for Nonpayment

Psychologists may not withhold records under their control that are requested and needed for a client's/patient's emergency treatment solely because payment has not been received.

6.04 Fees and Financial Arrangements

- (a) As early as is feasible in a professional or scientific relationship, psychologists and recipients of psychological services reach an agreement specifying compensation and billing arrangements.
- (b) Psychologists' fee practices are consistent with law.
- (c) Psychologists do not misrepresent their fees.
- (d) If limitations to services can be anticipated because of limitations in financing, this is discussed with the recipient of services as early as is feasible. (See also Standards 10.09, Interruption of Therapy, and 10.10, Terminating Therapy.)
- (e) If the recipient of services does not pay for services as agreed, and if psychologists intend to use collection agencies or legal measures to collect the fees, psychologists first inform the person that such measures will be taken and provide that person an opportunity to make prompt payment. (See also Standards 4.05, Disclosures; 6.03, Withholding Records for Nonpayment; and 10.01, Informed Consent to Therapy.)

6.05 Barter With Clients/Patients

Barter is the acceptance of goods, services, or other nonmonetary remuneration from clients/patients in return for psychological services. Psychologists may barter only if (1) it is not clinically contraindicated, and (2) the resulting arrangement is not exploitative. (See also Standards 3.05, Multiple Relationships, and 6.04, Fees and Financial Arrangements.)

6.06 Accuracy in Reports to Payors and Funding Sources

In their reports to payors for services or sources of research funding, psychologists take reasonable steps to ensure the accurate reporting of the nature of the service provided or research conducted, the fees, charges, or payments, and where applicable, the identity of the provider, the

findings, and the diagnosis. (See also Standards 4.01, Maintaining Confidentiality; 4.04, Minimizing Intrusions on Privacy; and 4.05, Disclosures.)

6.07 Referrals and Fees

When psychologists pay, receive payment from, or divide fees with another professional, other than in an employer-employee relationship, the payment to each is based on the services provided (clinical, consultative, administrative, or other) and is not based on the referral itself. (See also Standard 3.09, Cooperation With Other Professionals.)

Section 7: Education and Training

7.01 Design of Education and Training Programs

Psychologists responsible for education and training programs take reasonable steps to ensure that the programs are designed to provide the appropriate knowledge and proper experiences, and to meet the requirements for licensure, certification, or other goals for which claims are made by the program. (See also Standard 5.03, Descriptions of Workshops and Non-Degree-Granting Educational Programs.)

7.02 Descriptions of Education and Training Programs

Psychologists responsible for education and training programs take reasonable steps to ensure that there is a current and accurate description of the program content (including participation in required course- or program-related counseling, psychotherapy, experiential groups, consulting projects, or community service), training goals and objectives, stipends and benefits, and requirements that must be met for satisfactory completion of the program. This information must be made readily available to all interested parties.

7.03 Accuracy in Teaching

- (a) Psychologists take reasonable steps to ensure that course syllabi are accurate regarding the subject matter to be covered, bases for evaluating progress, and the nature of course experiences. This standard does not preclude an instructor from modifying course content or requirements when the instructor considers it pedagogically necessary or desirable, so long as students are made aware of these modifications in a manner that enables them to fulfill course requirements. (See also Standard 5.01, Avoidance of False or Deceptive Statements.)
- (b) When engaged in teaching or training, psychologists present psychological information accurately. (See also Standard 2.03, Maintaining Competence.)

7.04 Student Disclosure of Personal Information

Psychologists do not require students or supervisees to disclose personal information in courseor program-related activities, either orally or in writing, regarding sexual history, history of abuse and neglect, psychological treatment, and relationships with parents, peers, and spouses or significant others except if (1) the program or training facility has clearly identified this requirement in its admissions and program materials or (2) the information is necessary to evaluate or obtain assistance for students whose personal problems could reasonably be judged to be preventing them from performing their training- or professionally related activities in a competent manner or posing a threat to the students or others.

7.05 Mandatory Individual or Group Therapy

(a) When individual or group therapy is a program or course requirement, psychologists responsible for that program allow students in undergraduate and graduate programs the option of selecting such therapy from practitioners unaffiliated with the program. (See also Standard 7.02, Descriptions of Education and Training Programs.)

(b) Faculty who are or are likely to be responsible for evaluating students' academic performance do not themselves provide that therapy. (See also Standard 3.05, Multiple Relationships.)

7.06 Assessing Student and Supervisee Performance

- (a) In academic and supervisory relationships, psychologists establish a timely and specific process for providing feedback to students and supervisees. Information regarding the process is provided to the student at the beginning of supervision.
- (b) Psychologists evaluate students and supervisees on the basis of their actual performance on relevant and established program requirements.

7.07 Sexual Relationships With Students and Supervisees

Psychologists do not engage in sexual relationships with students or supervisees who are in their department, agency, or training center or over whom psychologists have or are likely to have evaluative authority. (See also Standard 3.05, Multiple Relationships.)

Section 8: Research and Publication

8.01 Institutional Approval

When institutional approval is required, psychologists provide accurate information about their research proposals and obtain approval prior to conducting the research. They conduct the research in accordance with the approved research protocol.

8.02 Informed Consent to Research

- (a) When obtaining informed consent as required in Standard 3.10, Informed Consent, psychologists inform participants about (1) the purpose of the research, expected duration, and procedures; (2) their right to decline to participate and to withdraw from the research once participation has begun; (3) the foreseeable consequences of declining or withdrawing; (4) reasonably foreseeable factors that may be expected to influence their willingness to participate such as potential risks, discomfort, or adverse effects; (5) any prospective research benefits; (6) limits of confidentiality; (7) incentives for participation; and (8) whom to contact for questions about the research and research participants' rights. They provide opportunity for the prospective participants to ask questions and receive answers. (See also Standards 8.03, Informed Consent for Recording Voices and Images in Research; 8.05, Dispensing With Informed Consent for Research; and 8.07, Deception in Research.)
- (b) Psychologists conducting intervention research involving the use of experimental treatments clarify to participants at the outset of the research (1) the experimental nature of the treatment; (2) the services that will or will not be available to the control group(s) if appropriate; (3) the means by which assignment to treatment and control groups will be made; (4) available treatment alternatives if an individual does not wish to participate in the research or wishes to withdraw once a study has begun; and (5) compensation for or monetary costs of participating including, if appropriate, whether reimbursement from the participant or a third-party payor will be sought. (See also Standard 8.02a, Informed Consent to Research.)

8.03 Informed Consent for Recording Voices and Images in Research

Psychologists obtain informed consent from research participants prior to recording their voices or images for data collection unless (1) the research consists solely of naturalistic observations in public places, and it is not anticipated that the recording will be used in a manner that could cause personal identification or harm, or (2) the research design includes deception, and consent for the use of the recording is obtained during debriefing. (See also Standard 8.07, Deception in Research.)

8.04 Client/Patient, Student, and Subordinate Research Participants

- (a) When psychologists conduct research with clients/patients, students, or subordinates as participants, psychologists take steps to protect the prospective participants from adverse consequences of declining or withdrawing from participation.
- (b) When research participation is a course requirement or an opportunity for extra credit, the prospective participant is given the choice of equitable alternative activities.

8.05 Dispensing With Informed Consent for Research

Psychologists may dispense with informed consent only (1) where research would not reasonably be assumed to create distress or harm and involves (a) the study of normal educational practices, curricula, or classroom management methods conducted in educational settings; (b) only anonymous questionnaires, naturalistic observations, or archival research for which disclosure of responses would not place participants at risk of criminal or civil liability or damage their financial standing, employability, or reputation, and confidentiality is protected; or (c) the study of factors related to job or organization effectiveness conducted in organizational settings for which there is no risk to participants' employability, and confidentiality is protected or (2) where otherwise permitted by law or federal or institutional regulations.

8.06 Offering Inducements for Research Participation

- (a) Psychologists make reasonable efforts to avoid offering excessive or inappropriate financial or other inducements for research participation when such inducements are likely to coerce participation.
- (b) When offering professional services as an inducement for research participation, psychologists clarify the nature of the services, as well as the risks, obligations, and limitations. (See also Standard 6.05, Barter With Clients/Patients.)

8.07 Deception in Research

- (a) Psychologists do not conduct a study involving deception unless they have determined that the use of deceptive techniques is justified by the study's significant prospective scientific, educational, or applied value and that effective nondeceptive alternative procedures are not feasible.
- (b) Psychologists do not deceive prospective participants about research that is reasonably expected to cause physical pain or severe emotional distress.
- (c) Psychologists explain any deception that is an integral feature of the design and conduct of an experiment to participants as early as is feasible, preferably at the conclusion of their participation, but no later than at the conclusion of the data collection, and permit participants to withdraw their data. (See also Standard 8.08, Debriefing.)

8.08 Debriefing

- (a) Psychologists provide a prompt opportunity for participants to obtain appropriate information about the nature, results, and conclusions of the research, and they take reasonable steps to correct any misconceptions that participants may have of which the psychologists are aware.
- (b) If scientific or humane values justify delaying or withholding this information, psychologists take reasonable measures to reduce the risk of harm.
- (c) When psychologists become aware that research procedures have harmed a participant, they take reasonable steps to minimize the harm.

8.09 Humane Care and Use of Animals in Research

(a) Psychologists acquire, care for, use, and dispose of animals in compliance with current federal, state, and local laws and regulations, and with professional standards.

- (b) Psychologists trained in research methods and experienced in the care of laboratory animals supervise all procedures involving animals and are responsible for ensuring appropriate consideration of their comfort, health, and humane treatment.
- (c) Psychologists ensure that all individuals under their supervision who are using animals have received instruction in research methods and in the care, maintenance, and handling of the species being used, to the extent appropriate to their role. (See also Standard 2.05, Delegation of Work to Others.)
- (d) Psychologists make reasonable efforts to minimize the discomfort, infection, illness, and pain of animal subjects.
- (e) Psychologists use a procedure subjecting animals to pain, stress, or privation only when an alternative procedure is unavailable and the goal is justified by its prospective scientific, educational, or applied value.
- (f) Psychologists perform surgical procedures under appropriate anesthesia and follow techniques to avoid infection and minimize pain during and after surgery.
- (g) When it is appropriate that an animal's life be terminated, psychologists proceed rapidly, with an effort to minimize pain and in accordance with accepted procedures.

8.10 Reporting Research Results

- (a) Psychologists do not fabricate data. (See also Standard 5.01a, Avoidance of False or Deceptive Statements.)
- (b) If psychologists discover significant errors in their published data, they take reasonable steps to correct such errors in a correction, retraction, erratum, or other appropriate publication means.

8.11 Plagiarism

Psychologists do not present portions of another's work or data as their own, even if the other work or data source is cited occasionally.

8.12 Publication Credit

- (a) Psychologists take responsibility and credit, including authorship credit, only for work they have actually performed or to which they have substantially contributed. (See also Standard 8.12b, Publication Credit.)
- (b) Principal authorship and other publication credits accurately reflect the relative scientific or professional contributions of the individuals involved, regardless of their relative status. Mere possession of an institutional position, such as department chair, does not justify authorship credit. Minor contributions to the research or to the writing for publications are acknowledged appropriately, such as in footnotes or in an introductory statement.
- (c) Except under exceptional circumstances, a student is listed as principal author on any multiple-authored article that is substantially based on the student's doctoral dissertation. Faculty advisors discuss publication credit with students as early as feasible and throughout the research and publication process as appropriate. (See also Standard 8.12b, Publication Credit.)

8.13 Duplicate Publication of Data

Psychologists do not publish, as original data, data that have been previously published. This does not preclude republishing data when they are accompanied by proper acknowledgment.

8.14 Sharing Research Data for Verification

(a) After research results are published, psychologists do not withhold the data on which their conclusions are based from other competent professionals who seek to verify the substantive claims through reanalysis and who intend to use such data only for that purpose, provided that

the confidentiality of the participants can be protected and unless legal rights concerning proprietary data preclude their release. This does not preclude psychologists from requiring that such individuals or groups be responsible for costs associated with the provision of such information.

(b) Psychologists who request data from other psychologists to verify the substantive claims through reanalysis may use shared data only for the declared purpose. Requesting psychologists obtain prior written agreement for all other uses of the data.

8.15 Reviewers

Psychologists who review material submitted for presentation, publication, grant, or research proposal review respect the confidentiality of and the proprietary rights in such information of those who submitted it.

Section 9: Assessment

9.01 Bases for Assessments

- (a) Psychologists base the opinions contained in their recommendations, reports, and diagnostic or evaluative statements, including forensic testimony, on information and techniques sufficient to substantiate their findings. (See also Standard 2.04, Bases for Scientific and Professional Judgments.)
- (b) Except as noted in 9.01c, psychologists provide opinions of the psychological characteristics of individuals only after they have conducted an examination of the individuals adequate to support their statements or conclusions. When, despite reasonable efforts, such an examination is not practical, psychologists document the efforts they made and the result of those efforts, clarify the probable impact of their limited information on the reliability and validity of their opinions, and appropriately limit the nature and extent of their conclusions or recommendations. (See also Standards 2.01, Boundaries of Competence, and 9.06, Interpreting Assessment Results.)
- (c) When psychologists conduct a record review or provide consultation or supervision and an individual examination is not warranted or necessary for the opinion, psychologists explain this and the sources of information on which they based their conclusions and recommendations.

9.02 Use of Assessments

- (a) Psychologists administer, adapt, score, interpret, or use assessment techniques, interviews, tests, or instruments in a manner and for purposes that are appropriate in light of the research on or evidence of the usefulness and proper application of the techniques.
- (b) Psychologists use assessment instruments whose validity and reliability have been established for use with members of the population tested. When such validity or reliability has not been established, psychologists describe the strengths and limitations of test results and interpretation.
- (c) Psychologists use assessment methods that are appropriate to an individual's language preference and competence, unless the use of an alternative language is relevant to the assessment issues.

9.03 Informed Consent in Assessments

(a) Psychologists obtain informed consent for assessments, evaluations, or diagnostic services, as described in Standard 3.10, Informed Consent, except when (1) testing is mandated by law or governmental regulations; (2) informed consent is implied because testing is conducted as a routine educational, institutional, or organizational activity (e.g., when participants voluntarily agree to assessment when applying for a job); or (3) one purpose of the testing is to evaluate decisional capacity. Informed consent includes an explanation of the nature and purpose of the

assessment, fees, involvement of third parties, and limits of confidentiality and sufficient opportunity for the client/patient to ask questions and receive answers.

- (b) Psychologists inform persons with questionable capacity to consent or for whom testing is mandated by law or governmental regulations about the nature and purpose of the proposed assessment services, using language that is reasonably understandable to the person being assessed.
- (c) Psychologists using the services of an interpreter obtain informed consent from the client/patient to use that interpreter, ensure that confidentiality of test results and test security are maintained, and include in their recommendations, reports, and diagnostic or evaluative statements, including forensic testimony, discussion of any limitations on the data obtained. (See also Standards 2.05, Delegation of Work to Others; 4.01, Maintaining Confidentiality; 9.01, Bases for Assessments; 9.06, Interpreting Assessment Results; and 9.07, Assessment by Unqualified Persons.)

9.04 Release of Test Data

- (a) The term test data refers to raw and scaled scores, client/patient responses to test questions or stimuli, and psychologists' notes and recordings concerning client/patient statements and behavior during an examination. Those portions of test materials that include client/patient responses are included in the definition of test data. Pursuant to a client/patient release, psychologists provide test data to the client/patient or other persons identified in the release. Psychologists may refrain from releasing test data to protect a client/patient or others from substantial harm or misuse or misrepresentation of the data or the test, recognizing that in many instances release of confidential information under these circumstances is regulated by law. (See also Standard 9.11, Maintaining Test Security.)
- (b) In the absence of a client/patient release, psychologists provide test data only as required by law or court order.

9.05 Test Construction

Psychologists who develop tests and other assessment techniques use appropriate psychometric procedures and current scientific or professional knowledge for test design, standardization, validation, reduction or elimination of bias, and recommendations for use.

9.06 Interpreting Assessment Results

When interpreting assessment results, including automated interpretations, psychologists take into account the purpose of the assessment as well as the various test factors, test-taking abilities, and other characteristics of the person being assessed, such as situational, personal, linguistic, and cultural differences, that might affect psychologists' judgments or reduce the accuracy of their interpretations. They indicate any significant limitations of their interpretations. (See also Standards 2.01b and c, Boundaries of Competence, and 3.01, Unfair Discrimination.)

9.07 Assessment by Unqualified Persons

Psychologists do not promote the use of psychological assessment techniques by unqualified persons, except when such use is conducted for training purposes with appropriate supervision. (See also Standard 2.05, Delegation of Work to Others.)

9.08 Obsolete Tests and Outdated Test Results

- (a) Psychologists do not base their assessment or intervention decisions or recommendations on data or test results that are outdated for the current purpose.
- (b) Psychologists do not base such decisions or recommendations on tests and measures that are obsolete and not useful for the current purpose.

9.09 Test Scoring and Interpretation Services

- (a) Psychologists who offer assessment or scoring services to other professionals accurately describe the purpose, norms, validity, reliability, and applications of the procedures and any special qualifications applicable to their use.
- (b) Psychologists select scoring and interpretation services (including automated services) on the basis of evidence of the validity of the program and procedures as well as on other appropriate considerations. (See also Standard 2.01b and c, Boundaries of Competence.)
- (c) Psychologists retain responsibility for the appropriate application, interpretation, and use of assessment instruments, whether they score and interpret such tests themselves or use automated or other services.

9.10 Explaining Assessment Results

Regardless of whether the scoring and interpretation are done by psychologists, by employees or assistants, or by automated or other outside services, psychologists take reasonable steps to ensure that explanations of results are given to the individual or designated representative unless the nature of the relationship precludes provision of an explanation of results (such as in some organizational consulting, preemployment or security screenings, and forensic evaluations), and this fact has been clearly explained to the person being assessed in advance.

9.11 Maintaining Test Security

The term test materials refers to manuals, instruments, protocols, and test questions or stimuli and does not include test data as defined in Standard 9.04, Release of Test Data. Psychologists make reasonable efforts to maintain the integrity and security of test materials and other assessment techniques consistent with law and contractual obligations, and in a manner that permits adherence to this Ethics Code.

Section 10: Therapy

10.01 Informed Consent to Therapy

- (a) When obtaining informed consent to therapy as required in Standard 3.10, Informed Consent, psychologists inform clients/patients as early as is feasible in the therapeutic relationship about the nature and anticipated course of therapy, fees, involvement of third parties, and limits of confidentiality and provide sufficient opportunity for the client/patient to ask questions and receive answers. (See also Standards 4.02, Discussing the Limits of Confidentiality, and 6.04, Fees and Financial Arrangements.)
- (b) When obtaining informed consent for treatment for which generally recognized techniques and procedures have not been established, psychologists inform their clients/patients of the developing nature of the treatment, the potential risks involved, alternative treatments that may be available, and the voluntary nature of their participation. (See also Standards 2.01e, Boundaries of Competence, and 3.10, Informed Consent.)
- (c) When the therapist is a trainee and the legal responsibility for the treatment provided resides with the supervisor, the client/patient, as part of the informed consent procedure, is informed that the therapist is in training and is being supervised and is given the name of the supervisor.

10.02 Therapy Involving Couples or Families

(a) When psychologists agree to provide services to several persons who have a relationship (such as spouses, significant others, or parents and children), they take reasonable steps to clarify at the outset (1) which of the individuals are clients/patients and (2) the relationship the psychologist will have with each person. This clarification includes the psychologist's role and

the probable uses of the services provided or the information obtained. (See also Standard 4.02, Discussing the Limits of Confidentiality.)

(b) If it becomes apparent that psychologists may be called on to perform potentially conflicting roles (such as family therapist and then witness for one party in divorce proceedings), psychologists take reasonable steps to clarify and modify, or withdraw from, roles appropriately. (See also Standard 3.05c, Multiple Relationships.)

10.03 Group Therapy

When psychologists provide services to several persons in a group setting, they describe at the outset the roles and responsibilities of all parties and the limits of confidentiality.

10.04 Providing Therapy to Those Served by Others

In deciding whether to offer or provide services to those already receiving mental health services elsewhere, psychologists carefully consider the treatment issues and the potential client's/patient's welfare. Psychologists discuss these issues with the client/patient or another legally authorized person on behalf of the client/patient in order to minimize the risk of confusion and conflict, consult with the other service providers when appropriate, and proceed with caution and sensitivity to the therapeutic issues.

10.05 Sexual Intimacies With Current Therapy Clients/Patients

Psychologists do not engage in sexual intimacies with current therapy clients/patients.

10.06 Sexual Intimacies With Relatives or Significant Others of Current Therapy Clients/Patients

Psychologists do not engage in sexual intimacies with individuals they know to be close relatives, guardians, or significant others of current clients/patients. Psychologists do not terminate therapy to circumvent this standard.

10.07 Therapy With Former Sexual Partners

Psychologists do not accept as therapy clients/patients persons with whom they have engaged in sexual intimacies.

10.08 Sexual Intimacies With Former Therapy Clients/Patients

- (a) Psychologists do not engage in sexual intimacies with former clients/patients for at least two years after cessation or termination of therapy.
- (b) Psychologists do not engage in sexual intimacies with former clients/patients even after a two-year interval except in the most unusual circumstances. Psychologists who engage in such activity after the two years following cessation or termination of therapy and of having no sexual contact with the former client/patient bear the burden of demonstrating that there has been no exploitation, in light of all relevant factors, including (1) the amount of time that has passed since therapy terminated; (2) the nature, duration, and intensity of the therapy; (3) the circumstances of termination; (4) the client's/patient's personal history; (5) the client's/patient's current mental status; (6) the likelihood of adverse impact on the client/patient; and (7) any statements or actions made by the therapist during the course of therapy suggesting or inviting the possibility of a post termination sexual or romantic relationship with the client/patient. (See also Standard 3.05, Multiple Relationships.)

10.09 Interruption of Therapy

When entering into employment or contractual relationships, psychologists make reasonable efforts to provide for orderly and appropriate resolution of responsibility for client/patient care in the event that the employment or contractual relationship ends, with paramount consideration given to the welfare of the client/patient. (See also Standard 3.12, Interruption of Psychological Services.)

10.10 Terminating Therapy

- (a) Psychologists terminate therapy when it becomes reasonably clear that the client/patient no longer needs the service, is not likely to benefit, or is being harmed by continued service.
- (b) Psychologists may terminate therapy when threatened or otherwise endangered by the client/patient or another person with whom the client/patient has a relationship.
- (c) Except where precluded by the actions of clients/patients or third-party payors, prior to termination psychologists provide pretermination counseling and suggest alternative service providers as appropriate.

HISTORY AND EFFECTIVE DATE

The American Psychological Association's Council of Representatives adopted this version of the APA Ethics Code during its meeting on Aug. 21, 2002. The Code became effective on June 1, 2003. The Council of Representatives amended this version of the Ethics Code on Feb. 20, 2010, effective June 1, 2010, and on Aug. 3, 2016, effective Jan. 1, 2017. Inquiries concerning the substance or interpretation of the APA Ethics Code should be addressed to the Director, Office of Ethics, American Psychological Association, 750 First St. NE, Washington, DC 20002-4242. The standards in this Ethics Code will be used to adjudicate complaints brought concerning alleged conduct occurring on or after the effective date. Complaints will be adjudicated on the basis of the version of the Ethics Code that was in effect at the time the conduct occurred.

The APA has previously published its Ethics Code as follows:

American Psychological Association. (1953). *Ethical standards of psychologists*. Washington, DC: Author.

American Psychological Association. (1959). Ethical standards of psychologists. *American Psychologist*, 14, 279-282.

American Psychological Association. (1963). Ethical standards of psychologists. *American Psychologist*, 18, 56-60.

American Psychological Association. (1968). Ethical standards of psychologists. *American Psychologist*, 23, 357-361.

American Psychological Association. (1977, March). Ethical standards of psychologists. APA *Monitor*, 22-23.

American Psychological Association. (1979). *Ethical standards of psychologists*. Washington, DC: Author.

American Psychological Association. (1981). Ethical principles of psychologists. *American Psychologist*, *36*, 633-638.

American Psychological Association. (1990). Ethical principles of psychologists (Amended June 2, 1989). *American Psychologist*, 45, 390-395.

American Psychological Association. (1992). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct. *American Psychologist*, 47, 1597-1611.

American Psychological Association. (2002). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct. *American Psychologist*, *57*, 1060-1073.

Request copies of the APA's Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct from the APA Order Department, 750 First St. NE, Washington, DC 20002-4242, or phone (202) 336-5510.

